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PREFACE. 

PUBLIC attention having been a good deal occupied by the Proceed­
ings of the Court Martial, assembled to try Lieutenant John Maitland, 
upon certain charges preferred against him by Major Thomas Magrath, 
the Editor ventures to hope that the following pages may not prove 
unacceptable. It had been his intention to have presented the public 
with the proceedings in detail, but they have been swelled to such an 
inconvenient size as to render that design impracticable. And he 
regrets that impossibility the less, as the evidence quoted in the 
following pages has been carefully compared with the record of the 
Court, and is so fully stated as to enable the reader to form a judgment 
on the whole case without difficulty. The Editor forbears, at present, 
to make any comment on the patient temper and impartial spirit 
displayed by the gallant Colonel who presided over that Court during 
its whole proceedings. Those points will be canvassed elsewhere. 
Nor is it my purpose to impugn its verdict. However unlooked for, 
that verdict has pronounced Lieutenant Maitland to be guilty of a 
«>reach of military discipline. But the public will decide what the 
Court has left un1ecided. "rhey will pronounce upon the moral guilt 
or innocence of the parties, and they will consider how far it is 
consistent with the honour of Her Majesty's service that matters 
should be allowed to remain in their present position. 

TORONTO, 13th APRIL, 1841. 

* * * THE evidence fort he defence was not concluded for several weeks 
after the Court had opened; when Lieutenant Maitland, feeling himself 
unequal to the task, desired that his counsel ( Mr. Blake) might be 
permitted to read his address, and cited in support of the application 
the case of Lieutenant Curtis, tried in January last, when such 
permission was granted as a matter of course. The Court, however, 
declined to comply with his request : and has thus, it is to be feared, 
by such high sanction, re-established a custom no less absurd than 
inconvenient. 





DEFENCE. 

MR. PRESIDENT AND GENTLEMEN,-

! shall not follow the example of the Prosecutor in this 
case, by asking your indulgence for the minuteness of detail, to which 
l shall be obliged to descend in conducting my defence, because I 
tun confident that I addre3s those who are as deeply impressed as I can 
possibly be with the vital importance of the enquiry in which they are 
now engaged, not only to the individual accused, but to Her Majeaty's 
service throughout the Province. And, Sir, I trust that I E-hall not be 
betrayed into the glaring inconsistency into which the Prosecutor has 
fallen,-who, while he expressed his sense of the painfulness of his 
situation as Public Prosecutor, and that too in a case where " the 
accused was an Officer, the establishment of whose gnilt would in all 
probability be followed by the loss of his Commission," and who would 
therefore one might suppose, have left the facts of the case to speak my 
gt1ilt, did nevertheless found that guilt, no:; upon tho.'le fact3, bat upon 
his own frequent and strong expression of the hardihood of my conduct, 
the malignity of my feelings, and the baseness of my mo:ives. 

I, Sir, shall not follow that example, but I shall ( wi · hout. indulging 
in any invective against the Prosecutor,) ground my defence upon the 
facts of the case; and if in the opinion of the Court. those facts shall 
not be considered sufficient to have warranted the conclusion which I 
have drawn from them,-nay, if the Court shall not be of opinion that 
those facts imperatively called upon me to pursue the course which [ 
did adopt, in just.ice to myself, in justice to the public, in justice to the 
service to which I have the honor to belong,-then, Sir, I cannot con­
sistently with my feelings condescend to ask their indulgence; be­
cause, however humble my rank, however infinitely beneath the notice 
of the Prosecutor it may have placed me, in his own estimation, and 
however truly humble it is compared with your rank, Sir, and that of 
many of the Members of the Court before which I am arraigned, yet, 
Sir, I can yield to none in my jealousy for the honor of Her Majes"~y's 
service; and I could never consent to hold by sufferance a Commis­
sion, of which m the opinion of those to whose judgment I shall most 
cheerfully bow, my conduct shall have rendered me unworthy. 

I did not think, Mr. President, that I should have been obliged to 
call a witness to prove, that for several years past, my exertions had 
mainly contributed to the increase of the Race funds of the City of 
Toronto. I thought, and do still think, that ( with the exception of the 
Prosecutor,) not one person will be found in the least acquainted with 
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the matter, who will not be able to answer the question "Have the 
Race funds been increaserl by Lieutenant Maitland's exertions, and if 
Eio, to any consi<lernble extent?" unhesitatingly in the affirmative. 

Sir, I became Secretary to thorn Races in 1336,-the subscriptions 
for that year amounted. to sixty pounds. I have continued 
Secretary erer f::inc:c; and in the year 1840 the Subt:criptions amounted 
to fire hundred pounds. In the year 1839, I had, up to the 
day of the Race :::, , collected a com,idern.ble sum,-amounting to two 
hundred and eighty pounds,-which I placed in the Farmer's 
B,rnk1 ~o the 1:.redit of Colonel Mackenzie Fraser, the President. Sub­
sequent ,o the c'.ay on which the R::.ces commenced I received further 
subscriptions to a com:iderable amount, which were, as I alleged, and 
do s'jll allege, paid to Major Magrath, wi ~h a balance of twenty 
eight pounds seven shillings and sixpence, a part of the fund 
phce<l by me in the Farmer's Bank at the disposal of Colonel 
l\.fockenzie Fraser, but which he did not require, and these sums were 
paid to the Prosecutor, in order that he as Treasurer to the Races, 
might pay all demands on the Race fund. It will not then, Sir, I 
think, be a matter of wonder that I continued to take in the Toronto 
Race:-, after they had become of some considerable importance, the 
same in:;erest which I felt in them when utterly insignificant. Nor will 
it, I think, be a source of snrprise, that in the ::;pring of the year 1840, I 
should have felt anxious that the account of 1he preceding year should 
be made up, not only as a guide to the Stewards in arranging for the 
then approaching meeting, but also for the purpose of shewing the pub­
lic, that thor:;e sub~criptions which I ha<l received, and for which I felt 
myself responsible, had been duly applied. With this view I addressed 
to l\fojor M igrath, upon the 30th April, the following note, which is in 
evidence before the Court:-

:rvlY DEAR Sm,-
TORONTO, 30th April, 1840. 

\Yith all clue defere11ce, I herewirh send you the st·1tements 
(two) ofmy Racing- Account,; for 1837 and 18:38, as rhey may nssist you in mak­
ing 011t y,>ur~ f,ir 183:), l>11t whid1 per hap~ 011gl1t more_ properly to have followed 
suit. arnl h1•<'11 in your pos~e~:;11111 t>re thi~. I am happy to find that the balance 
of £8 Gs. 6 ,1. i~ in my fo.vor, anrJ hope you are in funds for the same reason. 

It will mo;;t prol>ably be wished to be known on Friday afternoon the sum 
that was raised lust year, as a kind of guide for the present. 

Your;;, &c., 

Major Mngrnth, &c. 
(Signed) J. MAITLAND. 

To this note Major Magrath replied, by the communication marked 
No. '3, also in evidence before the Court, expres~ing his mability to 
und2rn'.:a1Jd th.e accounts. To remove which hindrance I sent to 
Major Magrath a further note expressive of my opinion that no difficul­
ty exis ed, which a liLle patience could not overcome. Up to the 6th 
of May, however, no acccount can have been furnished, because the fol­
lowing communication from myself under that date, is in evidence 
bcl"ore the Court:-
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TORONTO, May 6th, 1840. 

I herewith se-nd you (enclosPd) Colonel Mackenzie Fraser's 
chPqne (eizht) nnd the 1,tateme11t from the FarmPr',, B-ink, ,lwwi11g n h:ilano~ of 
£28 7s. 6d. ("l!t'rency, on 18th .l11lv, 183!), lying 11wn tt1 the cr,·dir of 1lic Races, 
which snm as 1 mentioned. Col Fraser gave a du:que for in 71011 ,- fwor some 
time after. These vo111 he1·;, will :;till further enable you morn ea:;ily to make 
out your statement for 1339. 

I don't care how soon you send me that £8 6s. Grl -should ever the out­
standiug subscriptions he collected, of cour5e they will be paid into the Race 
funds. 

I have, &c., 

Major Magrath, &c. 
(Signed) J. MAITLAND. 

Mr. President, I have troubled the Court with the re:iding of this 
note a second time, because it contains the important fact, that at that 
date, namely, the 6th of May, I had called the Prorncutor's nttention 
distinctly to the fact,that he had received the disputed sum of £23 7s 6d. 
and that, by cheque from Colonel :Mackenzie Fraser, on the Farmer's 
Bank. 

The next link in the chain of evidence is the interview which took 
place at the house of the Prosecutor, on the 27th of June; and without 
entering into the particulars of that interview, as detailed in evidence 
by the Prosecutor, with which I shall be obliged to trouble the Court 
by and bye, this much I think I may say, that the unsophi::itica·;;ed fact, 
the fact I should think incapable of being explained away by sophi:citry 
is, that upon that occasion I chctrged the Prosecutor with the receipt of 
the balance of £.'28 7s. 6d., which he without qualification, without 
explanation denied. For, Sir, I am not concerned to enquire the spe­
cious reasoning by which the Prosecutor justified r:;uch general denial 
to his conscience,-:hat, Sir, is an account which he must setJe with 
his Maker; to me the denial was general, unqualified, and vvith that 
alone I have to deal. 

I shall not be thought ha5ty then, if I conclude that at this period 
at least, the Prosecutor had full notice, that I considered hif.l neglect to 
furnish the accounts reprehensible; and further, that I charged him 
with the receipt of a sum of money which he denied. Ent if my note 
of the 6th :Mu.y was insufficient for t!nt purpo ,e, and if the interview of 

· the 27th June was insufficien ~ for that purpose, at lewt my letter of the 
24th of July ought to have folly av,:akened him to a senue of his posi­
tion. That letter, Sir, is in evidence, and I am sorry to be obliged to 
trouble the Court with a repetition ofit. 

Sm,-
TonoNTo, 24th July, 1840. 

I suppose you are aware that Mr. Boulton, your succes50l", has en lied 
upon me a.s well as you\'self fo1· an account, to shew how the Race fund stood be­
fore his acceptance of office, and you being in full possession of all the docunients 
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and vouchers connected therewith should have long ere this done so. and not re• 
quired any notice from that quarter, or from ~e. .1:et, not~ithstanding my 
n•pe:1ted applications to you, both VP1 bally and m wnt.mg, asking from you as 
acting Treawre1· to the Races of June, 1839, a statem~nt of the funds for 
that meeting- nothi11g of the kind, howevPr, has been furrnshed, even after the 
Jap,e of tw~l•w months; but_ as you have from time to time duri?1g that PP;riod 
frequently st aterl, on your bemg so called upon by me, your hav111g sometime~ 
lost, and then found the Subscription Book, a similar fate ycu also stated to 
have befallen the balnnce Sheet, and Original Entries for the Races, and last, 
thouoh not lea~t, variou» sums of money which have bPen recently received 
by v~u had quite eseaped your memo~y, I have therefore ( with tbe most 
cha~uable intention po~sible) to bring to your recollection facts cc,nnected with 
these matters, which will, I hope, refreshen and re-enlighten you on the sub­
ject. 

At a meeting of the Stewards precPding- these Races, Mr. Peter Buchan­
an, yourself and I, were appointed as MembPrs of the Committee of Finance 
for the purpose of collecting funds to meet the expenditure caused on account 
of the f{ aces. Mr. B not having time to take part, this business fell upon 
you and I, and during the time we were so occupied, and throughout the 
Races, I have no parLicular obser\'ations to make. I paid all the subscriptions 
and entries receiwd bPforn the Races into the Farmer's Bank, in the name 
of Colonel Mack<:>nzie Fra;,er, the President, which amounts covered the 
sum,; required to pay the diff Prent monies run for. On the Monday or Tues~ 
day evening afrer the Races, I waited upon you at your quarters in Bay 
Street, by appointment, agreeable to your anxious wish, and paid over ta 
you the monies I had further received, exceeding the sum of fifty pounds, 
(£50) and asssis:ed in making at the same time a Balance Sheet from the 
Subscription Book, &c. &c., .-hewing a healthy stale of the funds, which I 
also }Pft with you. Many sums of money I know as a matter of course were 
afterwarde paid by you, and many more received, some of them through mej 
and this went on for some months, when Mr. Heath came to the Military 
Secretary's Office and informed me that you were out of funds, and request• 
ing that Colonel Mackenzie Fm~er be a~ked to give you a cheque or order 
for the remaining money in the Farmer's Bank, (£28 odds) I in~tantlv wrote 
the Colonel a note containing the substance of your message, and was •alwavs 
given to understand that you had received the amount from the Ba,nk until 
the other day. 

All this mny be vPrv fine sport to you, but to me it appears rather be­
yond a joke, that I should be caused all this trouble, and u g1·eat deal more, 
on account of your memory or carelessness, or some othe1· cause. However, 
I rnu~t now inform you, that unless you forthwith make a satisfactory state­
ment and settlement of your intromissions with the Race funds, I will consider 
it a duty I owe to the subscribers and to myself to call a meeting and lay 
the case before them. 

(Signed) 

Major Magrath, &.c. 

I am, &c., 

JoHN MAITLAND, 

Secretary Toronto Race,,. 

This letter, Sir, having been received by the Prosecutor onty on 
the i4th of July, the Court may not perhaps be surprised to hear that 
he appeared at a meeting of the Stewards held on that day, not' witlt 



a clear statement of his account and refutation of my charges, but with 
this letter in one hand and a number of loose papers in the oLher; and 
these were ha.nded to Mr. Boulton, the succeeding Treasurer, with a 
declaration, that '' considering our relative situation in society, and my 
~aving served as private in his troop, he, the Prosecutor, could neither 
recognize, nor have any further communication with me." I say, Sir, 
that the Court may consider the conduct of the Prosecutor on that 
occasion, not unreasonable, under the circumstances. But surely at 
the next meeting on the .27th July, to the appointment of which he was 
party,-at that meeting called for the express purpose of investigating 
these accounts, then at least he will have appeared with a minute detail 
of every fraction received,-then he will not only have shewn the whole 
amount received, and his vouchers for the disbursements, but he will have 
spread out upon his accounts every particular of the place where, the 
person from whom, and the time when, he received such sum. Now, 
at least his memory will have been refreshed, and we will find him with 
a hotly of evidence, calculated to convince the Stewards that I who had 
embezzled these funds, was basely seeking to charge them upon him,­
conduct for which I ought to be stripped of my Commission, and brand­
ed as a villian for ever! At that meeting, Sir, he appeared with this 
account in his hand:-

R ACING ACCOUNT FOR 1889. 

Da. The Toronto Races with MAJOR MAGRATH, for 18S9. Ca. 

1839. £ s. d. 
To amount of sundry bills paid 

per vouchi>rs herewith, 
£108 15 9 

Less unaccounted for O 11 8 
--- 108 4 8 

£108 4 8 

(Signed) 

March Slst, 1840. 

1839. £ s. d. 
By amount received by Major 

Magrath for 1839, from 
sundry persons, per state-
ment herewith .........• 26 10 0 

By amount pairi .Mnjor Ma-
' grath by Mr. Maitland ... 50 2 6 
By bnlance due to Major Ma-

; grath .................. 31 12 2 

£108 4 8 

THOMAS w. MAGRATH. 

Which was not only perfectly silent as to the sum of £28 7s. 6d. 
but was accompanied by an unqualified, a thrice-repeated denial of its 
receipt. 

Now, Mr. Precsident, had I under these circumstances, stamped as 
I had been hy the Prosecutor, as a person whom he could neither re­
cognise nor communicate with, had I publicly accused him of that pecu­
lation which he sought practically, and so unfairly to lay to my charge,. 
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by producing an accou~t so gen~ral, and consequently (as he thought) 
so incapable of refutation as this, I do fearlessly say, that however 1 
might•have infringed Military L::i.w, humuni~y at least would have pro­
nounced me guiL!e.A:J ! How much lef_;s then, could I have been consid­
ered culµable, had. I ~ent into the wo1ld for my own vindication, that 
Pamphlet, the letters comporoing which have been read; and the publi­
cation of which the r,ourt will bear in mind forrm; no part of the charges 
against me. But, Sir, I did neither the one nor the other; I thought 
that the matter was of rnch a nature as to \varrant the General Com­
manding in taking cognizance of ·t, and under this impression I enclosed 
the Correspondence con tained in the Pamphlet to Colonel Ward, the 
Comm1ndant of the Garrison; and I sh:tll take the liberty of reading to 
the Court the let'.er which I enclosed with it to that Officer, and his 
answers, as well that on receipt of them, as the one which accompanied 
them when returned:-

Copy Letter to Colonel Ward. 

5 ASSISTANT l\ltLJTARY eEcRET.~Rt's OFFICE, 
i Toronto, 7th August, 1840. 

Sm,-
I have the honor to transmit copies of correspondence, &c. &c., on 

the subject of certain transactions arising out of the Toronto June Race 
Meeting of 1839, with which several Officers at present in Garrison here are 
intimately conntcted. 

I consider it my duty to put you in posse!:=sion as soon as possible of 
these circumstances, which are now matters of notoriety. 

I have the honor to be, &c. 

(Signed) 

The Commandant of Toronto. 

JOHN MAITLAND, 

Lt. 4th Batt. Jn •. Militia. 

Copy Letter from Colonel Ward. 

Srn,-
TORONTO, 8th August, 1840. 

. ~ have t? ack_no":ledge the receipt of your letter_ of yesterda:y's date, 
transm1ttrn~ copies ol a Correspondence, &c., on the suLJect of certain trans­
actions arising out of the Toronto June lbce ;\,leetina of 1839, and havinl7 
peru;;ed them, I consider it my <l11ty to translllit them, ,vhich 1 sh:·11 immedi 
ntely do, to the A· sistant A<:j'ltant General, to be laid before His Excellency 
th.e 1\tlajor General Comrna1:ding. 

I have the honor to be, 
Sir, 

Your most obedient humble servant, 

(Signed) 

John Maitland, Esq., Toronto. 

W. C. WARD, 

Lt. Col. Royal Engineer,. 
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Copy Letter from Colonel Ward. 

SJR.,-
TORONTO, 11th August, 1840. 

In returning the copies of a Correspondence, respecting certain 
transactions co;1nected with the Turf Club, whid1 you traasmitted to me, 
and which were laid by the As,istant A<ljutant General, before His Excel­
lency the Major General Commanding, l have to i11form you, that His 
Excellency ha;; no controul over the procee<lings of the Tu1 f Club, and that 
he is of opinion that they must :<ettlc! their own accounts and disputes amongst 
themselves. 

I have the honor to be, 

Sir, 

Your most obedient humble servant, 

(Signed) \V. C. WARD, 

Lt. Col. R. E. Commandant. 
John l\Iaitland, Esq., Toronto. 

Mr. President, I did on the 17th of August publish this Pamphlet. 
I felt that I was driven to it un<ler the circumstances, and I suppose I 
may assume, that it contains in it nothing criminal, inasmuch as the 
Prosecutor has not made it the subject ofone of hi,, ch1rges. It contains, 
Sir, those le~ters which I fear the Court has already too often heard.­
It cont.a.ins the statement of a fact that I asserted that Major Magrath 
had received £~8 7s. 6d. from Colonel Fraser, that he denied that as­
sertion, and it then states the proof of the tru~h of my assertion. And 
how is this Pamphle~ met? Is it by a similar statement of facts rebut­
ting those which I had put forward? Is ii; by a manly avowal that when 
he denied the receipt of the sum of £'28 7s. 6d., ( for he admits a denial 
on the 27th of June) he did so under a mistake which he subsequently 
detected1 

He meets it, Sir, in neither way, but he appears before the public, 
with a declaration, that my whole statement had been "wilfully and 
maliciously" concocted by me to cover my own embezzlement.. But, 
let us turn to the Pamphlet. It opens at page I, wi~h a repetition of 
the statement made before the meeting of the 24th of July, as follows: 
"l would premise, by stating the writer to have formerly served as 
Corporal in the Troop under my command, as a reference to the pay 
list now in my possession, attested by the signatures of Colonels Bul­
lock, Halket, and Jarvis, and his receipted account will prove; and that 
he is now employed as a Clerk in the Milit·uy Secrehry's Office."­
And not to speak of the general style ofthe Pamphlet, we find a~ page 
5, the following passage:-"lt is perfectly correct that I received 
in addition, a sum 'exceeding £50, as stated in page 5.' That the 
subscriptions were received is true, but that Mr. Maitland paid them 
to me and did not retain himself, is not only fabe, but it is wilfully and 
maliciously false." The chn.rge of pecuh~ion may seem black in the 
eyes of Officers and gentlemen, but me'~hinks it fades away, it becomes 
pale, compared with the charges of embezzlement effected by the 
statement of wilful and malicious falsehoods of another. 
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At page 8, we find the following paragraph:-"By Mr. Heath's 
request I have also appended h~reto, a 'correspondence' which ~peaks 
for itself, and which, if any thing can do so, must place Mr. Ma~tland 
in the unenvi:lble position in which Mr. Heath properly places him, of 
having 'paid an utter disregard to the truth.'" 

Sir, upon the appearance of this, I \Vill say, scurrilous Pamp~let, l 
did publish the letter in the British Colonist, which forms the subject of 
the fi.Lh charge against me, and I did send to the Stewards of the Ra~es 
for 1839, appended to my btutement of the accounts, the le~t~r which 
forms the sixth charge against me,-at :he sr1me time _dernandrng fro~ 
the President a meecing, for the purpose of investigation. I felt, Sir, 
that the facts of which I ha;ve now sketched an outline, justified the 
conclusion \vhich I had drawn from them, and I felt that the circum~ 
stances imperatively called upon me, in justice to myself, in justice to 
the public, in justice to the service to which I have the honor to belong, 
to pursue the course which I did adopt. 

And now, Sir, I feel that, with these facts beneath tne, I can stand 
erect, and set at naught,,ilike the malignity and zeal, of even this public 
spirited prosecution. For, Sir, I am conscious, that truth, like the sea 
beaten rock, however it may be sometimes ob:c;cured around its barn by 
the dark and boding tempe.ct, doe.;_; yet ever rear its summit in the open 
day, a beacon clear and eternal as nature ibelt: And, Sir, when he 
alleges that I charged npon him I.be receipt of sum~, which I was con­
scious he had not received, I point to those fact,:, an,1 I require him to 
inform the Court why he <lid not refute the churge,-v,·hy he denied 
the receipt of those sums,-and why he did not explain the fallacy into 
which I had fallen? B.1t, Sir, when he claims from the Court indul"'. 
gence for his memory for having denied the receipt of those sums, and 
for not having explained the cause from which that denial sprung, I 
present him his own Phamphlet, and tell him that if his memory enabled 
him to remember even his own case, I would call the blush of shame 
into his cheek. ·what, Sir, is the Court to be told, that after my letter 
of the 6th of May; that after the angry altercation of the 27th of June; 
that after the meeting of the Nth and the 27th of July,theProsecutor can 
claim any indulgence for his memory as to a fact, which a reference to 
his "own Ca~h Book,'' in which all his money matters were regularly 
entered, has it seems set for ever at rest? And, Sir, when the Prose­
cutor defines for the Court, the word peculation, and asks, even if every 
thing I had stated were true, how I could jns'jfy the publication of such 
matter concerning "a Brother Officer," I again present to him his Pam ... 
phlet,-I point him to his accusation of me, compared with which, all 
that I have charged against him is innocence itself. I remind him of 
his declaration of the 24th J uly,-I point him to the first page of his 
Pamphlet, and I say shame! shame! Am I to be trampled on as a 
"Corpor~l," a "Clerk," so long as any fair purpose of investigation 
can be stifled; and do you now dare to demand against me the rights 
of a "Brother Officer?" 

. If w~ turn, _Mr. Pre~ident, from these general observations, to' the 
evidence m detail, by which the Prosecutor has attempted to sustain the 
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different allegations, we shall, I think, find at every step these general 
observations confirmed and elucidated. 

With reference to the first cbrge I shall trouble the Court but with 
few rem::trks, because I think I ma.y safely assert, that no force of ima­
gin:1tion can strain the evidence adduced into proof of that charge; for 
the Court will ob::.;erve, in the fir.,t place, that that charge is confined to 
a sta~ement Enid to have been made by me on the 27th day of June 
last; and secondly, th3t she force of the charge lies in this, that I made 
that statement, "knowing it to be fa.Le." Now, when we examine 
the evidence, i: does indeeJ appear, that I stated on the 27th of June, 
that I paid a sum of £28 7s. 6d. to Mnjor Magrath, and that on his 
denying the receipt of it, I said I had paid it to Mr. Heath; but Major 
Magrath himselt; does not in evidence here sta,te, that I on that day 
charged him with the receipt of any sum of £28 7s. 6d. difierent from 
the one which he now admits that he did receive; for, at the close of 
his evinence in chief as to the first charge, when detailing the particulars 
of the rather singular directions given to SerjeantHolland,(upon which 
I shall have to trouble the Court with some observations at a future 
period,) he states to Serjeant Holland that he knew "from my man­
ne'i" "I intended to charge him with a second sum of £28 7s. 6d.; so 
that MaJor Magrath'::, information was not derived f.om what I stated, 
but was a conclusion at which he arrived frotn "my nwnncr;" and yet 
we find by his answer to the 44th interrogatory, that he did not explain 
to me on that occasion, that he admitted to have received any such 
sum. And when Mr. Heath is asked by the second cross interrogatory, 
"Was the sum of £28 7s. 6d. which Mr. Maitland said he had paid to 
Major Magrath, and then to you, the balance which remained in the 
Farmer's Bank to Colonel Fraser's cre1lit'?" he answers, "1 do not 
know." And when he is asked by the third cross interrogatory,'what 
sum of £28 7s. 6d. did you understand Mr. Maitland to speak of?" he 
replies, "I did not know what sum it was." Now, Sir, the fact is, 
that a sum of £28 7s. 6d. had been paid to l\IaJor Magrath, and unless 
the Court will consider his conjecture, from rny manner, or Mr. Heath's 
utter ignorance upon the subject, as pro,if that I meant a different sum, 
I am at a loss to conceive what evidence it is the Prosecutor relies on 
in support of his first charge. In truth, Sir, had I been called upon to 
defend myself solely on this point, I should have troubled the Court 
with very little enquiry on the subject. But it will I think be plain be­
fore I conclude, that my cross-examination as to the sum of £28 7s. 6d. 
was entered into with a view of rebutting the 5th and 6th charges, and 
not the.first. 

The Court will be pleased to observe, that the second charge is 
altogether unsupported by evidence. It states, that I alleged at a 
meeting of Stewards held in November, 1840, tha·~ I hnd paid to Major 
Magrath a s·im of £6 5s., I well knowing at the same time that I had 
not paid that sum. Now the evidence is, that I did state on the spe­
cified occasion, that I had paid the sum of £6 5s. to Major Magrath; 
but I am at a loss to discover by what evidenee it is propornd to ~hew 
the Court that I then knew I had not paid that sum, or by what evi-

B 



10 

dence such matter could be shewn; for I was then confident, a.rut_·~ 
still confident, that that sum was so paid. 

Mr. President, I do not feel it necessary to investigate the evidence 
in support of the t hird charge, so minutely, _as under other circumstan. 
ces I might feel disposed, because, Sir, I thmk I shall be able to she:'Y 
the Court that this- charge is, (as are also the 2d, 4th, and 6th) bad lit 
point oflaw. I think, Sir, I shall be able to shew, tha~ those charg_~s 
do not allege matter, which this or any ot~er Court under our Consti .. 
tution, can consider criminal, and upon which therefore I could be found 
guilty. But even should I be wrong in my view of th?se charge~, I -
·still feel, that like the last, this also is unsupported by evidence. Sir, I 
think I may safely state thus much as the result of th~ testimony of 
Colonel Mackenzie Fraser, Colonel Bullock, and Captain Arthur, tli~ 
Judges who presided on the occa~fon mentioned; tha.t I did t~en lay 
before them.an account, in which I charged Major Mo.grath with the 
receipt of various sums,-that I stated to them ( and indeed my account 
oarried on the Yery front of it ;hat statement,) that I was prepared to 
prove all the items so charged, and that I h::vl in my hand documentary 
evidence, as to many of the sums; and even Mr. Heath, when asked by 
the 79th croc;s interroga.'~ory, "Did Mr. Maitland say that he confined 
his statement that he bad proof in his hand to the sum of £6. 5s1'' 
answered, "I don't know that he said so, but my impression was, that 
he meant the sum of £6 5s.'r But suppoioe the Prosecutor had .proved 
that I had restric : ed my offer of proof to the snm of £6 5s • . alone, _ of 
the various items in my account, I am still at a foss to discover where 
the criminality lie~, for I then thought, and I must take leave to ·say, 
that my opinion r-, till remains unchanged,-! say that I then tbough.t, 
and I trust that this Court will think, when all the circumstances· of 
the case shall have beenlaid before them, that the fair presumption is, 
that the sum of £6 6s. had been paid. But even though I be so un­
fortunate as to differ from .Major Magrath, or from the Court~ in my 
estima e of the degree of probability which amounts to proof, I have 
yet to learn the mode of reasoning by which such difference of opinion. 
c_an be construed into crime. · 

Were I to confine myself to the matter immediately alleged against. 
~e, in th~ 4th charger a. sin~le observation would suffice. This charge 
IS "Havmg sta,ed at the time and place, and on the occnsio11 last n:;uu1~. 
t\~ned~ that the said Major l\fagrath harl not paid certain men of tJiei 
s:ud 1st Troop of Incorporated Dragoon~ the amount of a certain purse,, 
called the Troop Purse, run for at the said R-1.ce Meeting in 1839, and, 
won by certain men of the said Drao-oons, and that he the said Lieut. 
Maitland had been informed by tw; men of the said Troop, who were 
entitled to receive a portion thereof, that the same had not been paid 
to them by Major Magrath, or any one for him, and that they had not 
received their proportion; he the said Lieutenant Maitland well know~ 
ing, when he made the said statement, that the sairl purse had been· 
p:aid b -. Major l\fograt~, uncl thitt no man of the said Dragoons, entitfed' 
to receive- any proportion thereof, had made any such declaration/'-· 
Now, when Holland, M'Lean, M'Donald, believed a.t the time ~e~; 
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tioned in the charge, namely, in :Nov-ember, that the Troop Purse had 
tiot been distributed, I want faculties to perceive what shadow of proof 
,has been adduced to shew, that when 1 then stated that the Purse had 
110t been distributed, "I well knew that it had." When the very men 
entitled to the first, second, and third Purses have sworn that they 
heliefved, in November, that they had not received. their proportions of 
1.he Troop Purse, and informed me of such belief; how can it be sup­
posed that it is reasonable, probable, nay possible, thctt I could have 
known at that time, that it had been paid? And unless this is proved 
the cha-rge falls ,to the ground. But with the permission of the Court, 
I must digress a moment, in order 10 remove an impression which was 
-sought to be made upon the Coutt, by the line of examination pursued. 
by the Prosecutor, as though I was laboring to instil into the minds of 
tthese witnesses the tac ts which I called upon them to prove. Had I, 
.Sir, at a time when Major Magrath's accounts were undisputed, ad­
dressed these men on the subject of his payments to them, I should not 
have stood up now to defend such conduct. The truth, however, is, 
that !I never spoke to any of the witnesses on the subject of the pay­
ment of the Troop Purse, until the very day on which the Stewards sat 
in N <Wember. On that occasion ,vhen those accounts were being in~ 
~.estigated before a tribunal recognised by both parties,when each,party 
adduced such evidence to substantiate his case as he thought most 
ex,pedient-on that occasion, I say, it was not only competent to me: 
but my duty, when I understood that the Troop Purse had not been 
paid, to make the enquiry, which I accordingly did of these witnesses,and 
<>n their confirming -such rnmour, it was my further duty to bring them 
forward as -witnesses of the fact. I have said Lhat this matter is not 
pointed at in the fourth charge, but I have felt it due to my::.;elf to al­
lude to it for the purpose of removing any injurious impression. Upon 
the manner in which th~ subject was introduced by the Prosecutor I 
shall make no comment. It will be borne in mind that the communi­
cations with M 'Donald, proved by him, were of a very recent date, and 
were .entered into with a view to my defence upon this trial. 

T.he fifth and sixth -charges, Sir, are general, alleg-ing that I had 
published false, scandalouf', and malicious statements, in which I ac­
cused Major Magrath of peculation. An<l although it will, I apprehend, 
be found that these charges must in point of law be viewed in very dif­
f.erent lights, yet, inasmuch as the arguments \Vhich I am about to use, 
apply equally to each, I shall for the purpose of those arguments con.; 
sider it.hem as being in pai·i materia. 

I hope, Sir, to be enabled to prove, not only from the evidence 
-which l have myself adduced, but even from that adduced on the part 
-Of the prosecution, thri.t these s'.;atements were neither faLe nor mali-
.cious. But before I enter in~o the detail of that evidence, I would ask 
the Court whe~her I am not entitled 'to draw that conclusion from the 
course which the Prrn:1ecutor has adopted, independently altoge.her of 
.such investigation. The accounts appended to the let':.er on which the 
sixth charge is founded, prove that my opinion and 8tatement of Major 
Magrath's conduct, in having received various sums of money which he 
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subsequently denied, were not founded upon the receipt_ and d~nial of 
the sum of £28 7s. 6d. and £6 5s. alone, but upon his receipt and 
denial of various other sums, as well as those; and Colonel Fraser has 
stated in his answer to the 18th cross interrogatory, when examined on 
behalf of the prorncution, that some of these items in that acco~nt · had 
been proved by me to the satisfaction of ~he Cour,,_ before which ·the 
matter was inve:::tig:lted. Now, Sir, I ask_ wh_ether 1t would_ not have 
been more consh,tent with the usual practice m cases of this sort,--! 
ask whether the Pros€cutor would not have shewn a nicer sense 
of his own honor,-whether he would not have evinced a greater regard 
for the credit of the service, by calling for a Court-Martial npon kimtelf 
first, and thus clearing himself of all the sums which I had charged up­
on him'? Qr if he shrunk from pursuing that course, was it not incum­
bent upon him at least to have taken every sum which had been disputed 
before the Court of Enquiry, and made it the subject of a distinct 
charge? Then, Sir, his failure in proving any one of such charges 
would have been the justification of my general statement as to his 
conduct? But seeing that he has thought fit to adopt neither of these 
courses,-seeing that he has thought fit to select from the different 
items of that account only two sums, which he found best suited to his 
purpose, I put it to the Court, whether I am not entitled to assume 
that he admits the correctness of the residue~ And if it be admitted,that 
in any one ins·.ance the Prosecutor denied the receipt of money, which 
had in truth been paid, then are my statements upon which the fifth and 
sixth charges have been founded, proved to be at least true. But, Sir, 
I am not driven to rely upon this conclusion, ho\vever just, for my posi­
tion will I think be found proved by the testimony of Colonel Mackenzie 
Fraser, Captian Arthur, Mr. Atkinson,-in fact by every witness 
present. 

On reference to that testimony, it will be seen that I stated before 
the Stewards in November, that Mr. Domville had subscribed £5 to 
the Races of 1839,-:hat Mr. Domville had paid such subscription to 
me by a cheque for £7 10s. or thereabouts, I handing back to Mr. 
Domville the balance. It will further appear that I stated the whole 
cheque had been pa.id to Major Magrath either by Mr. Domville or 
myself, and that therefore, inasmuch as Major Magrath bad only credit­
ed the Race funds with £5, it would be found that he was still indebted 
to that fund in the sum of £2 10s., the balance of the cheque. But 
Major Magrath met this charg:e by stating that he did not recollect to 
have received this cheque. The previous diEcnssion on this subject, 
and those accounts, copies of which had been sent, as he has himself 
proved, to all the Stewards, had not it seems afforded him sufficient 
opportunity t~ rrfresl~ his memory. His ca.sh book is silent, not ~:mly 
as to the receipt of this sum, but also as to its disbursement. He has 
hims~lf no recollection on the subject, and Capt:nn Magrath ( as appears 
by his answers to t~e S4t~ anfl 55th interrogatory,) is produced to de­
pos~ to a convers~t10n said to have ta\rnn place at the Mi!itary Secre­
tary_s Office, (or the purpose of shewrng that the cheque had not been 
received by ~1s bro'.her. Yet, on the next meeting the cheque is pro­
duced, and 1t then of course became apparent that this charge is 
correct. 
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A good deal of hilarity was exhibited when one of the witnesses 
for the defence stated that Major Magrath displayed some surprise and 
confusion when this cheque was produced before the 8tewards on the 
the second meeting. But will the Court l.Je pleafed. to remember, that 
Major Magrath came to the enquiry arter an interval of months allowed 
for recollection, and with my account in his hands, making that very 
charge in language not to be misunder~tood. But if, notwithstanding 
this consideration, the Court should think it incredible that Major Ma­
grath could possibly feel some liLle confusion when the cheque which 
had been denied on the first meeting was drawn from him on the second, 
-if the Court will agree with the Prosecutor, in considering the state­
ment, that he displayed some little degree of feeling on that occasion, 
as a libel on his self-possession, and in itself sufficient to discredit the 
testimony of a witness, I shall of course bow to their superior judg­
ment. 

On reference, Sir, to the testimony of Colonel Fraser, and the 
several other witne.:;ses examined as to the proceeding of that Court, 
it will further appear, that I did upon the same occasion charge Major 
Magrath with having received and not accounted for a sum of £1 5s., 
being the subscription of a Mr. Murchison. But here we find that the 
memory not only of the Prosecutor, but what is somewhat more extra­
ordinary, of his cash book, is again at fault; for the Prosecutor states, 
that. this sum had never been received by him; and his cash book when 
produced, says, that however strange it may appear, still true it is, 
that this entry certainly was not ( as is usual) the notification of a visit 
already made to the Major, but the precursor of one intended to be made 
at some future period. 

Now, Sir, to make no comment upon the singular entry in a cask 
book of "money to be paid,"-not to dwell upon the fact which must 
be obvious to every eye, that the words "to be paid," are wrLten ,with 
different ink, different pen, and were to a moral certainty, made at a 
time altogether different from that at which the rest of the entry was 
made. Not to detain the Court upon these points, in themselves suffi­
ciently worthy of notice, it will I think be found, on reference to the 
evidence of Mr. Robert Maitland, that atthe time this entry was made, 
the sum of £1 5s. was not" to be paid," but had in the ordinary course 
of business been already paid. 

It will be found also, that the receipt of the sum of £53 17s. 6d. 
was denied by Major Magrath in November, but as I :;;hall be obliged to 
trouble the Court at some length on this sum, I shall at present only 
ref er to it. It is not charged against me that I alleged that " Major 
Magrath had received these sums, well knowing that he had not re­
ceived them," nor are these allegations of mine in any way impunged. 
Yet, Sir, although tltey have been studiously excluded, still if I have 
been enabled to shew the Court, that the receipt of thern sums was 
denied by Major Magrath in November last, (for it is a matter of indif­
ference what he now admits or deniec,) and if I have proved that such 
denial was inconsistent with the tru .h, then I do very humbly submit 
that I have proved enough to shew that my statements are neither 
"false nor malicious." 



14 

.Sir, before I enter into an investigation ofthe,ev-idenee- a:s to the 
sum .of £55 17s. 6<l., I shall take the liberty of stating to the Court 
the facts as I allege them to have happened, and as they are ,said tf> 
have ta.ken place by Mujor Magrath; and I shall then contra~t the 
evidence with each, in order tha.t the Court may be enabled to .see with 
which state of f;:.cts it is most conuistent. But, Sir, I cannot help pau~ 
ing here for a moment, while I retiect upon my p_eculiar happiness, i11 
being able to support my case, not by direct :,est1monyr alone, but bf 
such a body of circumstantial evidence as nothing less than the iiwd of 
Providence could have supplied. Had I been driven to rest.my defence 
upon direct evide11ce only, I should have felt much the pa~:ril_ positieB 
~f the Court, in being obliged to decide between such confilctmg test1 .. 
mony; but inasmuch as every minU1te circumstance whlch I have heea 
enabled to call to mind, has when investicrated, . hrown additional light 
upon the subject, I do feel, that these scattered rays when collected into 
fl. focus, will prove of force sufficient to dispel every shadow of doubt 
from the Least reflecting mind. 

The Court will be pleased to bear in mind, that up to the 19th day 
of June, 1839, the day on which the Races commenced, I had paid a'}j 
sums received into the Farmer's Bank to the credit of Col. Macki?nzi-e 
Fraser. So far all are agreed. I state, that on that and the -su-bequent 
day, I collected upon the Race course a sum exceeding £;53,-that cm 
the third day of the Races I collected a sum of £25, and which being -of 
inconvenient size as I was about to ride in the hurdle race, I too~ fror:n 
my pocket and handed fo Mr. Tod. I ~tate fort her, that finding it un­
suitable to pay the various small claims upon the Race funds .at the 
Military Secretary's Office, Major Mngrath offered to receive the monies 
and make the disbursements; to which proposal I acceded. That in 
consequence of this arrangement, I did on the 24th June, 1839, pay . t.o 
Major Magrath the sum of£ 55 and upwards,-that I informed vario;u.s 
persons who had applied to me for payment, that they must make appli ... 
cation to Major Magrath, ,vho was in possession of all the funda~-thu 
in consequence of such information several persons did apply to .him, 
~nd were accordingly paid, not only debts of recent date, but some of 
old etanding,-that .I did, (probably sometim€ in July, 1869,) pay t.Q 
Major Magru th a further sum of£ 16 10s., being the amount-of the Inn .. 
keepers' sub:;;cription,-: hat Major l\fogn1.th .did through l\fr. Heath, 
apply to me for the balance of the monies which had been deposited in 
the Parmer\; Bank to the credit. of Colonel Mackenzie Fraser, and that 
in consequence of such application I wr0te to Colonel Fraser, who in 
compliance therewith sent a cheque to Major Magrat!:i., upon which he 
received the balance, namely, £28 7s. 6d. Such are the facts . aa 
I allege then to have taken p!J.ce. 

· . Major M::igrat~ on the o~her hand states, at page 5 of his pa:mphlet, 
that upon the c\·cntng on wh1Gh I assert that I paid him the sum of 
£50 odd, I did really pay him a sum of £16 lOt:i., :rnd that with the 
~xception of Mr. Cumrning's and .Mr. Eastwood\, subscription, amount­
mg to £5 ~>~- no other sums were paid him by me. He admits als@, 
that he received a 1:,um of £28 7s. 6d. from Colonel Mackenzie .F~er: 
but he states, that when he credited the Race funds with the sum w 



£~ ~., 6d.,: he . did not mean to charge himself with a gross sum of 
that amount received from me in addition to these three items: but on the 

- contrary, he says they were included in, and in fact composed the sum 
so ~:redited. That M:1jor Mngrath did receive a sum of £50 2s. 6d. 
thC;3n, is not to be denied. He has himself always credited tlJat sum in 
his accounts, but whether when he did so credit it, he intended it as a; 

f!WPRrate a,nd distinct sum, or men.nt it to comprise the three items just 
mentioned, is the issue to be decided upon by the Court. 

Now, Mr. President, I do not think it unworthy of observation, in1 

the first place, that the natural mode in which an account of this sort 
would be made out, in which the thre() items were received from dif­
ferent per~ons, on different accounts, and at periods widely different,. 
the Ilatural way, I say, in which such an acconnt would be transcribed, 
(and that too drawn as Captain Magrath has sworn in his answer to 
the ~0fh0 interrogatory, from the very cash book produced,) is, not by 
giving credit for a gross sum, but by entering the different sums conse­
cutivr,lyi as they appeared in the book. I htwe said, Sir, that a distinct 
entry: of these three sums is what one would naturally expect; but the 
Court may perhaps be of opinion that the professional habits of the 
Prosecutor, unused to the vulgar details of business, will have sllf.fi"' 
eiently accounted for this deviation,-and such may be the case,-pos­
sibly my•_:rnind may attach too much importance to this, circumsta1Uc0y 
y~.t.,su.rely I am justified jn expecting to find, on the 27th of June,. a. 
disp,lay ·of tliat manly, sfraigh'Sorward candor which has ever distin­
gui~hed the _character of a British Officer. We shall not I pr_esume­
findliim laying a snare to entrap a Brother Officer; or if some infirmity 
ofnature shall have led him into so unworthy an act, his better feeling 
wilt have loathed its haseness,-we shall not at least find- a serjeant 
summoned. to chronicle and record it. · · 

Now, Sir, may I entreat the at'.ention of the Court to the df'g-ree 
of infotrrwtion possessed by Major Magrath on the 27th of Jime. Upon 
the 6th of May I had addressed a letter to him as follows:-

"· L herewith S€nd you (enclosed) Colonel l\fn.ckenzie Fra.ger't:f 
alreques (eight) and the stutemf'nt from the Far-mer's•Ba;nk, shewi:ng·at 
baiance of £q3 7s. 6d. currency, on the 18th of July,• f3j9j lying then' 
th the credit of the Races,. which sum as I mentioned; Colonel Fra:sel" 
gave:a cheque for:in your favor·sometime after/' 

In this; letter I enclosed a sbtement from the Farmer's Bank,. 
whfoh., permit me to re1na.rk, cannot have· escaped the· observation. ~ 
Major Magrath, a,; upon the aLern.tion of that account,, he sub.seqnentl'.y 
founded a; grarve charge of for~ery, and the principal entry upon whiclr 
that· eltar~· of forgery was founded. is the following:-'' To' liala'lta 
d.roNmJ. O'llt by M<Jjor Magrath, £28 7s. 6d." 

~utthis is not all; Captain Magra-th has informed the Court,,. in. 
his: answer to the 20th and 21st interrogatories, that he had oome days, 
pr~v,ious,to, the 2.7th of June, ( at Major Magrath's particnla.r a,nd..fre:. 
qp,e,n,t r,equBSt,) made out. the Racing. Ac'C'ounts, from, the- very book 
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spoken of, and at the moment of my arrival Serjeant Holland was Emf• 
ployed in copying the account so made out. 

Now, Sir, u'!Jon the !27th of June, on that.occasion when so much 
angry discn:nir>n' too'.{ phce; on t 1ut occa'jion when L was ~hought 
nece;:isa.rv- to de·rnatc}1 a rn3;:-.1enrr2r for Mr. H~'.tt.h to contradict me; 
and on tha.t occ;si•:>n of w'.1icJ it w.1c; d2e'.ll2-l expcJient to direct Mr~ 
Serje,rn~ Hollan:! to keep a written record,--how did the sum 'of 
£28 7s. 6d. come to b2 q rnstioned? L~~ M::i.jor l\fagra,h speak; for 
he w·.ts asked by ,he 13th <:ro:J3 int8rrog1tory, "HJw did the sum of 
£28 7s. 6d. bec•Jme a matter of qaestion on the 27th of Jun_e?" and 
his reply wa<J, "by Mr. M 1itland asking me if I did tiot receive th~t 
sum from him, and lu did not ue it credited in the accounts." Is It 
then po3s ble can any m:1n in his senses believe, that if Major Ma grath's 
statement be true, namely, that this sum of £50 is. 6d. was ol'iginally 
intended to include theJe three items, he would not have afforded some 
explanation of a dispute, originating as he bus himself described this to 
have done? Is it possible, if such statements are true, that with my letter 
ot the 6th of May in his possession,-with the "forged" Farmer's 
Bank account in his hand, bo:h pointing to the receipt of the sum oi 
£28 7s. 6d. from Col. Mackenzie Fraser,-that after making up of the 
account by Cap:ain Magrath at his frequent and earnest request, and 
with Serjeant Holland at the moment copying such account,-is it pos­
sible, I say, that if such statement were true, he would not have bee,n 
prepared to state what sum he did receive from Colonel Mackenzie 
Fraser, and to inform me that such sum was included in the £50 2s. 6d: 1 
Is there any man with a mind so curiously formed, as to believe, that 
if the snm of £50 2s. 6d. was then intended to include the sum of 
£28 7s. 6d., .Major Magrath would not have thought during all that 
lengthened discussion,-would not have thought while Mr. Heath was 
being sent for,-would not have thought, while the accounts were being 
looked over, of opening his "cosh book/' (which was proved to have 
lain constantly on his table,) in which "all his money trani::actionswere 
regularly entered," for the purpose of satisfying himself on the disputed 
point. But hear his own statement. He is asked by the Court at the 
close of his examination, (I think in the record it is called the 44th 
cross interrogatory,) "Did you explain to Mr. Maitland, when he was 
at your house, that you included £!28 7s. 6d. in £50 2s. 6d. 'I" and 
what is the reply? "No, I did not;" but he stops not here, he goes on 
to explain his reason,-:-" It wa~ . in consequence of a re!'erence to my 
books that I ascertamed pos1:ively that I had received the sum of 
£28 7s. 6d. from Colonel Fraser, and not from Mr. Mattland, after Mr. 
Maitland had left my house." And trulv, I feel, that however singular 
the past history may have been,-however unaccountable the utter 
ignoran~~ of Major_ Magrath may :seem, notwithstanding the frequent 
premomtrons to which I have so often alluded-however difficult of com.:. 
prehension such things may be, they are not more ext.raordinarv than the 
sudden illumination which succeeded them, nor in the least degree more 
unaccountable than the effect produced by such illumination. Major 
Magrath has sworn at the close of his evidence in chief upon the first 
charge "that when Mr. Maitland left the room, he told Serjeant 
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Holland to make a memorandum of the converaation, telling him his 
reason for doing so was,. that from Mr. Maitland's manner he wanted 
him (Major Magrath) to acknowledge another sum of £28 7s. 6d. be­
side that which he had received from Colonel Fraser, which he had 
already credited to the Race funds." ;:,erjeant Holland swears, in 
answer to the 2d, 5d, and 4th cross interrogatories, that Major Ma­
grath gave him this direction immediately after Mr. Maitland left, 
without consulting any book or paper. And Mr. Heath is asked, in 
the 7th interrogatory, by the Prosecutor, "Did you hear Major 
l\1agrath make any remark as Mr. Jlfaitland left the ruom, or im­
mediately after;" to which he answers "Yes," and then states the 
direction to Serjeant Holland. The rapidity of this reference clearly 
proves Major Magrath's familiarity with the item of £28 7s. 6d. I 
suppose!! and its exact position in his books. 

But, Sir, singular as this sudden illumination may seem, so sud­
den that no person was able to trace its progress, so great that it 
at once dispelled a darkness which had prevailed for months,-sin­
gular as all this may appear, it is not in the least more singular 
than the remarkable effects which it produced. For what use is it 
natural to expect Major Magrath :would have made of this newly 
acquired knowledge? Is it, or is it not natural to expect, that he 
would have taken the book, and pointed out to Mr. Heath the 
entries which had thrown so much light upon the dispute? Yet Mr. 
Heath says, in his answer to the 44th cross interrogatory, that he 
was ignorant of the fact that Major Magrath had received the sum 
of £.28 7s. 6d. from Colonel Fraser on the .27th of June. Is it not 
natural to suppose, that he would have taken the book and pointed 
out to Holland, those entries which justified him (Major Magrath) in 
the dispute with me, and warranted the memorandum he had ordered 
to be made? But Serjeant Holland has sworn, in his answer to the 
6th interrogatory, that no entry was pointed out to him. Was it 
too much to expect from a "Brother Officer," that he should have 
taken his pen and apprized me of the mistake into which I had 
fallen, "from not seeing the £.28 7s. 6d. credited on his account?" 

And now, Sir, I earnestly ~•rd sol_emnly ask the Court, are 
these things true? If Major Magrath's statements be true, certain 
it is, that no vestiges remain by which to distinguish the foosteps of 
Truth from those of Fafrehood. For I can with the utmost truth 
declare, that if no point remained upon which _to rest my defence, 
except Major Magrath's account of the transaction of the .27th June, 
I would most fearlessly rely upon it; for it contains inconsistencies 
so numerous, so glaring, and so insurmountable, that I protest I would 
not dare venture into Court to prove them, with a hope of being be. 
heved. They should have remained for ever in oblivion, had they not 
fallen from the lips of the Prosecutor himself. 

Mr. President, I have said, that the fact of the receipt of a sum of 
.£50 .28. 6d. by Major Magrath is admitted, but that the question, waa 
that sum when entered to the credit of the Race funde, intended to csm­
prise_ tke three items 8J)Oken of; or was it separate from them.1 remains 

C 
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to be decided by the Court. Before entering upon the evidence, how• 
ever, which brings us down to the meetiJ?gs in July, I must b_eg the 
attention of the Court to the fact, that this case has at no period as­
sumed any very definite shape i_n the mind of t~e Prosecutor h~self.­
Had I no evidence but that which has been delivered by the witnesses 
before the Court, it might perhaps be possible for the ingenuity of man 
to cast a shadow of doubt upon the truth. Though I can hardly conceive 
this possible. But, Sir, I have happily_ lived to_ verify the w~se as­
piration of the man of sorrows, when m the bitterness of his soul 
he exclaimed, "Oh! that mine adversary had written a book!" 

Mine adversary, Sir, "has written a book," and from- it I shall 
shew the Court, that the memory of the Prosecutor, ( especially as 
to the sum of £28 7s. 6d.) has constantly varied with every vari~ 
tion of circumstances, and that his case has been again and aga.m 
patched and mended, to suit these varying circumstances. Let us 
then consider the view which the Prosecutor took of my charge 
against him as to the sum of £28 7s. 6d., when he published that 
Pamphlet on the 20th of August, 1840. At page 4, he states, "So 
stands the charge; and the question is thus broadly put, have I em­
bezzled £28 7s. 6d. of the Race funds, or have I been falsely accused 
by a wilful slanderer. In three several shapes Mr. Maitland has re­
cently advanced this accusation; 1st, that he paid me £28 7s. 6d. 
himself; 2d, he asserted before Mr. Heath and Serjeant Holland, 
that he gave Mr. Heath £28 7s. 6d.; and Sd, in the pamphlet he 
avers that it was paid me by Colonel Fraser, by cheque on the 
Farmer's Bank in my favor. Whether each of these substantially 
different charges refers to a distinct sum of £28 7s. 6d., orwhether 
Mr. Maitland, with characteristic sagacity, has made his statement 
in three different forms, to afford a chance of one at least provi.ng 
correct, must be left to himself; suffice it for me to meet it in its 
last tangible shape." 

Now, Sir, I should say, that it is tolerably clear from the word­
ing of this whole passage, that Major Magrath knew perfectly well 
that only one sum was intended, because, Sir, he says, "in the pam­
phlet he avers that it was paid me by Colonel Fraser." Now, if Major 
Ma~rath 'Yas under an impressi~n that two or more sums were charged 
agamst him, the expression "it" would never have found place in 
that paragraph. But it cannot at all events be denied, that he then 
professes tha~ his mind is undecided upon this point. On reflection, 
however, MaJor Magrath finds that he has denied the receipt of a 
sum of £28 7s. 6d., and therefore, unless it was asserted that he had 
received two sums of that amount, his denial must prove untrue· and 
consequently we find him at page 6, stating:- ' 

". Soon after Colonel Fraser's return I waited on him, and for the 
first time found that the £28 7s. 6d., as stated by Mr. Maitland as 
having been paid by him, Mr. Maitland, first to Mr. Heath, 'and 
then to me, to be. one and the same sum that I had received from Col. 
Fraser, for J. Ma.1tland and P. Buchanan, which was at the time Mr. 



19 

Maitland orings the charge against me credited to the Races, and in­
cluded in the sum of £50 2s. 6d." 

We find here several propositions worthy of notice, some express­
ed directly, and others by implication. It is stated, that up to the 
period of Colonel Fraser's return, Major Magrath had believed that I 
had charged two sums of £.28 7s. 6d. against him. That upon the 
occasion of his interview with Colonel Fraser, his mind was disabused 
~fthat idea; for he then found that only one sum was intended. And 
lastly, it is implied that Major Magrath had always admitted the receipt 
of £28 7s. 6d. from Colonel Fraser. But replete as this paragraph is 
with matter, I cannot help feeling surprised, that inasmuch as the Pro­
secutor found it expedient to point out the time when his mind was dis­
abused as to the erroneous notion of two sums being charged upon 
him, he did not also hint at the manner in which that change was brought 
about. I cannot help feeling surprise, that while he fixed accurately 
the moment when his mind was at length opened to a perception of the 
fact (which no person but himself ever doubted) namely, that the only 
sum I ever charged upon him was the balance which had lain at the 
Farmer's Bank to Colonel Fraser's credit,-! feel surprise, I say, that 
he did not also explain the means by which his sudden, though very late 
conversion, was effected, For when we turn to the particulars of that 
interview with Colonel Fraser, we do not find him explaining to Major 
Magrath any of my views on this matter. Indeed it does not appear 
to the Court that Col Fraser had been apprized of these views, n.s 
he had just returned after a lengthened absence. Major Magrath 
has himself informed the Court, that his receipt was not shewn to 
him; so that all that passed during this interview, (so far as we are 
informed) may be stated shortly thus. Major Magrath made some en­
quiries of Colonel Fraser as to the sum of money which had been in the 
Farmer's Bank. Colonel Fraser said it had been paid to Major Ma­
grath. The Major declared he did not recollect it. To which Col.Fraser 
replied, that he must be under a mistake, as he held his receipt. What 
it was in this conversation which so suddenly disabused Major Magrath's 
mind of his former erroneous idea, and convinced him that I only in­
tended to charge him with the receipt of one sum of £28 7s. 6d. remains 
for his ingenuity to explain. 

But, Sir, we must not stop here, for singular as it may appear, yet 
true it is, that we have within the short compass of nine pages, a third 
view of the case, essentially different from either of those befoie 
stated. 

The arbitrators, (as Major Magrath pleases to call them) though 
I beg once for all to refer the Court to the 8th page of his own pamph­
let, to shew that they are in reality no arbitrators, but merely volun­
teers, I having no concern in their appointment. These gentlemen, 
however, had found that Major Magrath had received a suin of £28 7s. 6d. 
and that that sum was included in the sum of £50 2s. 6d. The 
Prosecutor of course, with characteristic sagacity, must make the most 
of this verdict in his favor, consequently we find him at page 9 stating: 
"This extraordinary charge may be thus summed up; I am accused of 
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receiving £28 7s. Gd. from Colonel Fraser, and o~ subsequently. de­
nying its receipt. I ha-ye pro_ved to t~e sat1sfacti~n of the arbitra­
tors, that the balance with which I credited Mr. Maitland £50 2s. 6d. 
was corre,:t, and was made. up of three sums, one of which was 
the very sum of £'28 7s. 6d. received from Colonel Fraser. 

"Now, unless another sum of precisely the same amount can be 
shewn to have been received by me, and this has not ever been as­
Berted, my refutation of the slander is complete." 

We find then, that he sets out professing his inability to decide 
whether I meant to charge him with the receipt of two sums of £28 7s. 6d. 
orof only one. He would next explain away his denial, by declaring, that 
up to the period of Col. Fraser's return, he conceived himself to be 
charged with two sums, and he then for the first time, was made 
aware of the fact, that the balance in the :Farmer's Bank alone was 
said to have been received by him. And lastly, in order to make 
the finding of the "arbitrators," namely, "that the sum of £28 7s. 6d. 
received from Colonel :Fraser, was included in the sum of £50 2s. 6d.'· 
conclusive, he stoutly avers that it had "never been even asserted," 
that he had received a sum of exactly similar amount to the £28 7s. 6d. 
admitted to have been received from Colonel :Fraser, and already cre­
dited to the Race funds. 

Amidst these ever- varying statements, which have not at any 
two periods remained the same, it becomes a matter of some im­
portance, that we should establish upon what footing it is that the 
Prosecutor has launched his case in this Court, in order that we may 
see how that case is substantiated by the evidence; and I may safely 
say, that every member of this Court must have seen, (independ­
ently of any reasoning of mine,) that the case with which the Pro­
secutor has come into the Court is, that I did charge upon him the 
receipt of two sums of £'28 7s. 6d.; because the Prosecutor having 
denied the receipt of one sum of £'28 7s. 6d. must, (unless he com­
promise his truth) shew that there was another sum of £'28 7s. 6d. in 
question, beside the one which has been proved to have been re­
ceived. 

· But alt.hough I may be wrong in arguing from these premises, to 
the conclusion that the case is launcheC: on the ground that I had 
charged two sums of £'28 7s. 6d. npon Major Magrath, yet I can­
not at least be mistaken in the conclusion itself. Because, unless 
it is. la~nched ?n. that gr~un~, the first charge is perfectly futile; 
nay, it is more, 1t 1s a prost1tut10n of the power of this Court for the 
purposes of private malice, without even a shadow of reason. For 
Major Magrath cannot be ignorant that the criminality of an act con­
sists wholly in the intention. 

. Now, Si~, when I charged l\:foj~r Magrath on the 27th of June 
with the_ receipt. of £~8 7s. 6d., 1f I mtended to charge him only with 
the receipt of a specific sum, (namely, the balance in the Farmer's 
Bank, a sum which he admits to have received,) I am at a loss to 
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know how any awkwardness in my mode of expressing such intention 
could constitute a crime. It is then plain, that if the Prosecutor's case 
be not this, that I charged him with the receipt of two sums of £28 7s.6d. 
then has he come into Court, stating in his first charge, what he knew 
to be false, a case which I will not presume. 

When we look at the evidence too on the part of the Prosecution, 
we shall find Mr. Heath stating, in answer to the 57th cross interroga­
tory, that I did charge Major Magrath "with the receipt of two specific 
mms of £28 7s. 6d." And we find the Prosecutor in the 6th interro­
gatory in chief asking Colonel Airey the following question: "Did 
John Maitland on that occasion insist that there was another sum of 
£28 7s. 6d. beside that credited in the £50 2s. 6d. ?" A question 
which from its peculiar and artful frame would in all prohability have 
drawn from any witness less clear-sighted than the one then under 
examination an answer prejudicial to my case. But as I shall be obliged 
to enter minutely into Colonel Airey's testimony by and bye, I merely 
state the question now for the purpose of drawing attention to the case 
which the Prosecutor meant to have established. 

With reference to Mr. Heath's evidence as to my charging two 
sums, inasmuch as I find it opposed by all the other testimony in the 
case, I shall not trouble the Court with any minute investigation into 
it. I shall, however, with permission of the Court, state it to be my 
firm persuasion, that Mr. Heath did not mean in any one particular to 
pervert what he thought to be the truth. But while I most gladly 
make this declaration, I must also in justice to myself state my further 
persuasion, that the frequent conversations, which from his habits of 
intimacy he must have held with Major Magrath on this subject, have 
in his mind assumed so much of the appearance of the recollection of 
past transactions, that he is unab!e to draw the line of distinction, and 
that consequently his evidence will not be entitled to that weight which 
under other circumstances it would undoubtedly carry. 

I think I shall be able to shew the C9urt, that this observation on 
Mr. Heath's testimony is just, by referring to one or two instances of 
his utter ignorance upon points which had not. probably been the sub­
ject of conversation, but which could not possibly he unknown to any 
person having such a knowledge of those transact.ions, as to render his 
testimony of any value. I asked Mr. Heath, in the 47th cross interro­
gatory, "Are you aware that it was a matter of question on the 27th 
of July, 1840, that Major Magrath had received £28 7s. 6d. from Col. 
Fraser1" His answer is, "l do not know whether it was or not." 

Again I ask him, "For what particular purpose was that meeting 
called?" _ 

"l really can't say, I do not remember." 

Again, "Was Colonel Airey in the Chair both days, .24th and 27th 
of July1" 

"I cannot positively assert it." 
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.Hut though the Court should be of opi~ion that ~ have concluded 
hastily on this point, I am sure they will not thmk th_at I have 
shrunk from a· closer investigation, in consequence of the difficulty of 
the task, but that they will consider his whole testimony themselves, 
and then I feel assured it will receive its due weight, and no more. 

Mr. President, permit me now for a moment to refer to the facts 
as they are deposed to, on the part of the prosecutio~ •. Let me _remin_d 
the Court, that this account of Major Magrath's (g1v~ng credit as_ It 
does for a sum in gross, instead of specifying the three items of which 
that sum is said to have been composed,) had on the 27th of June led 
me into a mistake; because, Sir, I shall for the purpose of my present 
argument consider Major Magrath's statement to be true, and I shall 
consider my having charged Major Magrath with a sum of £28 7s. 6d. 
to have been a mistake, arising from the mode in which that account 
had been extended. Let me remind the Court, that this mistake was 
not then explained to me. Let me remind them, that that account had 
been drawn out by Captain Magrath a few days previous to the 27th 
of June from those cash books, to whom therefore these items must be 
familiar. Let me remind the Court, that Major Magrath has sworn, 
that upon the 27th of June he did himself refer to his books, and find 
out the exact sum received from Colonel Fraser. Let me remind them 
ofmy letter of the .24th of July, charging Major Magrath with the re­
ceipt of £.28 7s. 6d., the balance of Colonel Fraser's account, in addi­
tion to the sum of £50 .2s. 6d.; and taking all this statement to be 
true, what am I entitled to expect from Major Magrath, on the 27th of 
July, at the meeting appointed by himself to investigate this very ac­
count 1 Am I unreasonable ifl require Major Magrath to have produ­
ced this acrount, which had already caused one mistake, drawn out in 
detail, as it should have been originally written1 Do I ask more than 
common experience warrants, if I demand that Major Magrath should 
have appeared at that meeting with an account so plain, and with an 
admission of the money received from Colonel Fraser, so unequivocal, 
that no Steward should have left that meeting with the shadow of a 
doubt upon his mind1 Are these the natural, the inevitable consequen­
ces which would flow from those facts if true1 and shall I not be war­
ranted in concluding, that when those consequences were wanting,­
when this sum of £50 .28. 6d. is again credited in bulk, instead of being 
admitted in a manner so clear and unequivocal, as to leave no shadow 
of doubt on the mind of any one present, is denied so pointedly, so dis­
tinctly, as to leave no room for doubt,-to cause the most decided 
impression upon the mind of every Steward present, of Colonel Airey, 
of Captain Arthur, Captain Markham, Mr. Boulton,-am I not, (I say) 
warranted in concluding these statements to he false1 

But, Sir, if the statements of this transaction by the Prosecutor up 
to the meetings in July, be found inconsistent, let us see how his ac­
count of the proceedings at these meetings tallies with the evidence of 
the other witnesses. 

Major Magrath is asked in the S7th cross interrogatory, "Did you 
explain it to the Stewards, at the meeting of the ~4th July, 1840, that 
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you had admitted to have received the sum of £.28 7s. 6d. from Colonel 
Fraser1" To which he answers: 

"I did explain to the Stewards, that the £28 7s. 6d. that I got 
from Colonel Fraser, together with all the money I received on account 
of the Races, was included in the sum of £50 2s. 6d, then before Col. 
Airey in the account." 

He subsequently corrects this by confining his explanation to Col • 
.11.irey, as Captains Arthur and Markham were "not attending." 

Again, at the 42d cross interrogatory, "Did you declare that the 
sum of £28 7s. 6d. had been received by you from Colonel Fraser, and 
that that sum was included in the gross sum of £ 50 2s. 6d., at the 
meeting of the 27th July, 18401" To which he replies: 

"I did. When asked by Colonel Airey if I had received the sum 
of £28 7s. 6d., I said I had, and that I included it in the sum of 
£50 2s. 6d." 

Now, Sir, let us turn to Colonel Airey's answer to the 5th cross 
interrogatory. The question runs thus: 

" Did I understand you to mean in your answer to the 5th interro­
gatory in chief, that Mr. Maitland charged Major Magrath with 
£28 7s. 6d. in addition to the sum of £50 2s. 6d. included in his 
account!" And this is the answer: 

"Major Magrath implied, that all the monies he had received were 
included in his account,while Mr. Maitland insisted that the£28 7s. 6d. 
received of Colonel Fraser, was separate, and in addition to the amount 
so credited. At one of the meetings of the Stewards, Mr. Maitland 
said, that he paid Major Magrath £.28 7s. 6d., or thereabouts, which 
Major Magrath denied having received from Mr. Maitland. As Presi­
dent, I observed, that it was a matter of little moment whether he had 
received it actually from Mr. Maitland in person,-upon which great 
stress appeared to be laid,-or whether he had received it through Mr. 
Mr. Maitland's intervention. To this Major Magrath stated, that all 
the sums that he had received, formed part of an amount of which the 
sum total was £50 2s. 6d., or thereabouts. To which Mr. Maitland 
replied, that the £28 7s. 6d. to which he alluded, was either dfferent 
from, or in addition to the component parts of that amount, in which 
Major Magrath said that £.28 7s. 6d. was included." 

Hear him again, at the 6th cross interrogatory: 
" I wish to direct your attention to your answer to the 7th inter­

rogatory, and to ask you whether Major Msgrath ever gave the 
Stewards a positive answer, that he had admitted to have received the 
sum of £28 7s. 6d. from Colonel Fraser1" 

" He positively said, that he had not received it from Col. Fraser's 
· hands." 

Again, he is asked in the 7th cross interrogatory, " Did he posi­
tively state, that Colonel Fraser had paid him the sum of £28 7s. 6d. 
in any wav1'' 
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"No, he did not. He denied positively that he had received it 
from Colonel Fraser; but, in his answer he implied that he had received 
so much from Colonel Fraser, because he insisted that that sum would 
be found a component part of the sum credited in the account,-the 
sum of £50 2s. 6d." 

I have been fearful, Sir, of trespassing too long on the attention of 
the Court, and have therefore taken the evidence by sample, rather than 
enter into that general and minute investigation which I could have 
wished; and I trust the Court will indulge me while I refer to one or 
two answers of the other witnesses on the point. Major Magrath's 
receipt to Colonel Fraser is produced to Mr. Boulton, and he is asked 
when he first saw it? and that question is followed at the 16th interro­
gatory by the following question: 

" Was the existence of tliat receipt consistent with Major Ma­
grath's statement, at the meeting in July?" Which was answered 
thus: 

"Decidedly not. The impression on my mind, when the receipt 
was produced, for the £28 7s. 6d. was, that it was at direct variance 
with what Major Magrath said, with respect to that sum, at the July 
meeting of the Stewards. Mr. Maitland charged him with having 
received £28 7s. 6d. in addition to the £50 2s. 6d. and Major Magratli 
denied it." 

He is then asked, "When he first knew that the sum of £50 2s. 6d. 
was composed of the items into which it is now divided?" And he 
answers: 

"At the meeting held in August." 

He is next asked, "Whether he ·knew it at the meeting in July?" 
To which he answers: 

"No." 

If we now turn to the evidence of Captain Arthur, we shall I think 
find the same facts more clearly, because more succinctly expressed.­
He is asked at the 7th interrogatory, "How many sums of £28 7s. 6d. 
did Mr. Maitland charge Major Magrath with having received at the 
meeting in July1" · 

"One sum." 

At the 8th interrogatory, "What sum of £28 7s. 6d. did you 
understand that to be? I mean was the source from which it was de­
rived mentioned?" 

" I understood it to be a check from Colonel Fraser for that 
amount." 

At the 9th interrogatory, "Did Major Magrath admit that he had 
received that sum 1" 

"He denied having received that sum." 
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· At the 10th interrogatory, "Did Major Magrath inform the Stew­
ards that he admitted to have received the sum of £.28 7s. 6d. from 
Colonel Fraser1" 

'' He did not." 

At the 11th interrogatory, "When did you first see the receipt 
from Major Magrath to Colonel Fraser?" 

"On Colonel Fraser's return from Lower Canada." 

At the I.2th interrogatory, "Did you consider the existence of that 
receipt consistent with what Major Magrath stated in Julyf' 

"Directly at variance." 

Captain Markham is asked by the 6th interrogatory, "Was the 
sum of £.28 7s. 6d. spoken of by Mr. Maitland on that occasion, as 
having been paid to Major Magrath, and not accounted for by him1"­
To which Captain Markham replies, not directly, but by giving an ex­
planation of the whole matter as he remembered it to have occurred. 

"Mr. Maitland said, that Major Magrath had received a sum of 
£.28 odd, or thereabouts, which he did not account for in his accounts. 
Major Magrath produced his account in which he credited the Club 
with a gross sum of £50. Mr. Maitland then said, 'in addition 
to that sum already mentioned, you received a sum (to the best of my 
recollection) of about £.28 odd.' Major Magrath said, 'no.' " 

And he is asked at the 8th interrogatory, "What sum of £.28 odd 
did you understand that to be; I mean, was the source from which it 
was derived mentionedr' 

"To the best of my recollection, it was a cheque on some Bank, 
given by the previous President, Col. Fraser." 

Mr. President, I would most willingly have cited every tittle of 
Captain Markham's evidence, had I not hesitated to trespass too long 
upon the attention of the Court; because I feel, that if he had been the 
only witness examined upon the trial, my defence would have been 
found written in his testimony as with a sun-beam. His evidence dif­
fered indeed as was natural, in minor points, from that of the other 
witnesses; but in the main.all agree. His evidence bears the stamp of 
originality. In it he stated to the Court, clearly and succinctly, the 
strong impression which the transaction had made upon his mind; and 
from that statement, no ingenuity on the part of the Prosecutor,-no 
perseverance on the part of some members of the Court, to whose mind 
that statement was not conclusive, could induce him to move. 

And:now, Sir, permit me for a moment to return to the question 
put to Major Magrath, and his answer before cited. 

"Did you declare that the sum of £.28 7s. 6d. had been received 
by you from Colonel Frased and that that sum was included in the 
gross sum of £50 .28. 6d. at the meeting of the 27th of July, 18401" 

D 
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" 1 did. When asked by Colonel Airey if I had received the sum of 
£~8 7s. 6d. I said I had; and that I included it in the sum. of 
£50 2s. 6d." 

And let me ask the Prosecutor how I am to understand that 
answer? Is it a quibbling prevarication, intended to produce an impres­
sion on the mind of the Court, which the truth must dispel1 Or is it 
a plain statement meaning w~at it imports~ I_ care not which al~erna­
tive he selects. If it be a qmbble, a prevar1cat1on,-the explanation of 
which will by and bye call forth a display of ingenuity on the part of 
the Prosecutor,-! have no remark to make. The assumption is his 
condemnation. But if it be a plain statement meaning what it imports, 
I ask the Court whether I have not proved it f alsel I appeal to the 
whole evidence of Colonel Airey, of Mr. Boulton, of Captain Arthur, 
Captain .Markham, and I ask the Court whether I have not proved it 
false? Has not that body of clear, unimpeachable evidence shone out 
like the meridian sun, and dissipated the mists and vapours which for a. 
while obscured and deformed the truth. 

But, Sir, it is sought to explain away that denial on the pa.rt of 
Major Magrath, by confining it to a denial of the receipt of a sum of 
£28 7s. 6d. in addition to the sum of £50 2s. 6d.; and then this 
denial so explained, is again by implication converted into an admission 
of the receipt of that sum included in the £50 ~s. 6d.; and upon this 
view of the case I will first observe, that I am not concerned to prove 
its fallacy. For Ifl have shewn the Court, that Major Magrath did 
not plainly inform the Stewards that he had received the sum in dis­
pute,-the balance which had lain in the Farmer's Bank,---the f3Um said 
to have been received on Col. Fraser's cheque. If I have shewn the 
Court that he did not avow that,and further,that he did not state that that 
identical sum was one item of which the £50 2s. 6d.was composed, then 
the foundation of my argument remains firm as truth itself,and no power 
on earth can shake it. I care not what is established by implication; 
but were I concerned to meet that quibble, I feel that I could most tri­
umphantly do so, out of the mouth of every witness for the prosecution, 
and without the assistance of one particle of the evidence adduced.on the 
part of the defence. · · · 

I may perhaps, without subjecting myself to the·charge ·orprolix­
ity, remark here, that when I found the Prosecutor guarding his state­
ment, "that he had explained this matter tothe Stewards," by saying 
that he "had explained it to Col. Airey, and that Captains Arthur and 
Markham stood aloof and were not attending;'' and when I found Mr!' 
Heath, in answering a similar question, say, " He did explain it., ad­
drese'ing himself to the !'reS'iden~,"-from that mo~ent (I say,) though 
I had not conversed with Captam Arthur, Captain Markham, or Mr. 
Boulton on the subject, I felt confident that such statement .could not 
be true,-I _fel~ confident that such statement would prove false, -upon 
the clear prmc1ple, that a man who has made a plain statement of a sim­
ple t~a.n~action, will ~ev_er feel it nec~ssa.ry to guard himself against the 
P?seab1hty of_ contrad1ct1on, by swearmg who attended to him • and' who 
did not. Seemg, however, that the Prosecutor felt-it necessary• to,gu.lltd 
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his evidence so cautiously, I must confess, that my astonishment was 
at its height when lfound the anxious pertinacity with which he sought 
to prove what it was that he had stated at that meeting, out of the 
mouth of whom1-of Captain Markham, who had (according to the 
Prosecutor's own evidence) paid no attention to what passed on the 
occasion mentioned. But, Sir, J will not refute that fallacy by appeal­
ing to. the evidence either of Captain Arthur or Captain Markham, be­
cause they possibly found nothing in the scenes then presented to attract 
attention, or distract the even tenor of that conversation in which the 
Prosecutor has described them to have been absorbed!! But, Sir, I will 
appeal to Colonel .11.irey,-I will appeal to the m.an to whose peculiar 
attention all the Prosecutor's statements (as well direct as implied) 
were addressed; and when Major Magrath's pamphlet is placed in his 
hand, and he is directed to read the paragraph which says, "In presence 
of Colonel Airey and all the Stewards, on the 24th of July, I did state, 
and do still, that I never did receive the sum in question from Colonel 
Fraser, in addition to the sum at that moment credited to the Races; 
and it must appear to every one, that Mr. Maitland wanted me to ac­
knowledge the same sum twice." And when Colonel Airey is asked at 
the 9th interrogatory, whether any such statement as that was made, 
what is his reply1 "I have no recollection of Major Magrath's denying 
having received the sum of £?28 7s. 6d. in addition, because I do not 
remember the conversation's taking that turn." 

I have now, Sir, concluded my observations upon the testimony of 
these gentlemen; but I cannot pass on to the consideration of the evi­
dence adduced on the defence, without expressing· to the Court the very 
keen sense which I feel of the injustice done me by the Prosecutor, in 
not having called these witnesses on opening his case. They, Sir, were 
not the dependants, the friends, the relations of the accused. ~'hese 
gentlemen occupy the most exalted station in this country. Their 
testimony was above imputation. They were not the mere casual ob­
servers, the uninter-estetf spectators of the facts which they have related 
and the scenes which they have described. They were the very best 
witnesses. The persons whose business and duty it was to know and 
decide upon the very point at issue. And I assert, without fear of con­
tradiction, that the conduct of the Prosecutor, in declining to call such 
witnesses, was what would have imperatively commanded any Judge, 
sitting in a court of criminal justice, had I been arraigned before him as 
afelon, to have ordered my acquittal. And am [ to be told, that this 
is the Court, this the sort of proceeding in which the Prosecutor is to be 
allowed to bring forward half a case? Does the Constitution extend 
its protecting shield over uf:l, ,when our lives, our liberty, our property 
is at stake? and does it leave us altogether defenceless when those 
interests are attacked which are dearer than life itself1 Is the Prose­
cutor to pursue towards me with impunity in this Court, a line of con­
duct which- would have insured the acquittal of a common felon? 

Mr. President, had that evidence been adduced by the Prosecutor, 
I should not have troubled the Court by calling a single witness, because 
the only testimony upon which my condemnation could proceed, upon 
which it could be grounded, would have been shewn to be unworthy of 
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belief• but inasmuch as I have been obliged to call those witnesses my­
self, I have felt it to be my duty to bring forward such further evidence 
as I deemed conducive to my defence. And truly when I reflect upon 
the clear and convincing evidence of the denial of the receipt of ~he sum 
of £28 7s. 6d. proved by those who ought to have been the witnesses 
of the Prosecutor· and when I add to that testimony the denial ofit at 
the Farmer's Bank, before two of the officers of that institution; ( and 
then at least the denial was simple,-then at least the Prosecut?r ceased 
to work by rules of "addition;") and w ~en I look to the den~al of the 
receipt of the sum before Mr. Robert Maitland; when I consider that 
such denial was continued .up to the time of Colonel Fraser's return, as 
is palpable from Colonel Fraser's evidence; when I consider these 
things, I cannot help admiring the hardihood of the conduct of the Pro­
secutor, who has dared to come into this Court to seek my condemna­
tion, on a case necessa.rily based on bis uniform admission of the receipt 
of that money. 

Sir, had my defence rested on my brother's testimony solely, I 
should perhaps be induced (however reluctantly) to trouble the Court 
with some observations; but happily his evidence (as in every other 
particular, so especially in this,) will be found so firmly based in . truth, 
and so strongly supported by circumstantial evidence, that I do not feel 
it necessary here to make a single remark. I must, however, before 
passing on to the next branch of the case, say a word or two on the 
subject of these cash-books, which some gentlemen have thought enti­
tled to so much weight. I shall not trouble the Court with the enquiry 
whether these books are or are not legal evidence, in support of this 
prosecution, though I apprehend that it could be shewn upon very plain 
principles that they could not be used as evidence against me; bat I 
shall without any investigation upon that point, proceed to enquire to 
what weight they are entitled, considering them receivable as evidence. 
Now, Sir, if these books are of any force against me, that force must 
be derived from an argument somewhat of this sort. There is found in 
these books no entry of a sum of £50 ~s. 6d., but the three items 
spoken of do together equal £56 ~s. 6d., therefore the credit of 
£50 2.s. 6d. in Major Magmth's Racing accounts must be intended to 
have been composed of these three items; and I am prepared to admit, 
that under certain circumstances, this argument would be one of the 
most conclusive nature. But in this case, as it is detailed in the evi­
dence for the prosecution, the argument is not only utterly powerless, 
but seems to me to be an insult to common sense. Had these books 
contained, as Major Magrath declared they did, " a regular entry of all 
his money matters for the last two years," one might indeed conjecture 
from the absence of an entry of the sum of £50 2.s. 6d., that no such 
sum had been received. But when I asked Captain Magrath to point 
to the entry of Mr. Domville's cheque, of Mr. Dunn's subscription, Mr. 
Cayley's, Mr. Hewson's, Mr. Dixon's, Mr. Strachan's, &.c. &.c.,-and 
when I was informed that no such entries were to be found in these 
books,-when in short we learn that the omission to enter sums relative 
to the Races seems to have been the general rule, and the entry of such 
sums the exception,-however fairly we might argue from the omission 
that the sum kad been received,-! must confess that I feel at a loss to 
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conjecture how such omission affords any ground to conclude that it 
had, not been received. But then it is said Captain Magrath caught very 
early glimpses of the conspiracy which I had formed against his brother; 
and he has informed the Court that my straitened circumstances, and 
other matters which he more darkly hinted, had induced him to disap­
prove of such entries being made in these books, and to advise Major 
Magrath to discontinue them; and the Prosecutor informed the Court, 
when he stopped my examination of Captain Magrath, as to the entry 
of these sums, and admitted that they were not to be found in his cash 
book, that it was in consequence of such hints from the witness that 
these entries were omitted; and in meeting this argument, I do not 
mean to consume the time of the Court, by dwelling upon the difficulty 
which I felt, while this witness was being examined, ( and which diffi­
culty reflection has not diminished) in accounting for the mode in which 
the regular entry of monies received by Major Magrath, could forward 
that conspiracy which I had formed against him; nor shall I make any 
comment upon the spirit in which that witness made his relation. The 
Court will no doubt remember those remarks, although some of them 
were not entered upon its proceedings, and will judge more impartially 
than I can, whether they fell from the lips of one constrained by a so­
lemn sense of that oath which he had taken, or whether they proceeded 
from the unrestrained passion ofa malignant heart. 

But, laying aside these difficulties, it will I apprehend tax the in­
genuity of the Prosecutor in some small degree, to explain how the 
prudent forethought of Captain Magrath, which had been excited by 
the discovery of certain Race entries in this general cash book, can ac­
count for the omission of Mr. Domville's cheque. That, Sir, was the 
nrst sum received by Major Magrath on account of the Races,-yet 
there is no entry either of its receipt or payment; and in truth, the total 
oblivion into which the matter of this cheque had sunk, on the occa­
sion of the meeting of the Stewards in November, suggests the passing 
thought, that however these omissions might enable the Prosecutor to 
carry into effect a conspiracy against me, (if I am not guilty of too 
gross a breach of courtesy in just supposing such a thing possible for 
argument's sake) it is not very conceivable how my schemes could be 
furthered by such means. But how can this acquiescence on the part 
Major Magrath, in the prudent caution of his brother, be made to ac­
count for the omission of the very first sum which ought to have been 
entered? Can the Captain have foreseen that the sums of £16 10s. 
and £28 7s. 6d. would be entered; and further, that such entries would 
materially assist a certain conspiracy about to be formed against the 
Major? (For the payment of Mr. Domville's money preceded the 
Major's appointment as Treasurer;) and foreseeing these things, can 
he have instructed the Prosecutor to omit the first sum received, and 
then to make the subsequent entries to warrant the omission of the 
firstl Or is the whole a piece of new material manufactured to patch 
and mend the old covering already worn out? lfit be so, I think I may 
venture to say, that the Scripture prediction will befal it,-namely, 
"that the new will take from the old, and the rent will be made 
worse." 
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But let us pass to the next premise of this syllogism,-namely, ~ 
the three items exactly compose the sum of £50 2s. 6d.; and upon this 
I would first observe, that I am not driven to prove the entry " from 
Col. F. Race's account, £28 7s. 6d." to be false. The proposition 
which I am concerned to maintain is, that the entry of £50 2s. 6d. in 
the Race account, was originally intended as an entry of a gross nm, 
and had no reference to these items. But I think I may say thus much, 
that the arguments by which I have attempted to maintain the one pro­
position, might be brought to bear, without any great stretch of inge­
nuity, on the other. Having mentioned the entry, "Murchison per 
Maitland 'to be paid,' £1 5s.," and having contrasted that entry with 
Mr. Maitland's testimony, I shall here only mention it, though it is 
well deserving our utmost attention. Let us see, however, whether we 
cannot find some other pretty evident marks of fabrication in these re­
markable books. I know, 8ir, that these are hard sayings,-! know 
that under other circumstances I should run some risk of prejudicing 
my cause by the mention of them, but the Court will not, I am sure, 
forget that this is no ordinary trial; this is not a case in which the im­
plication of the Prosecutor can have no tendency to secure the acquit­
tal of the prisoner. I am not indulging in recrimination,-my dearest 
interests, my all is at stake. My innocence cannot consist with his. 
It is therefore that I say these things. Would to God I could, for the 
honor of the service, for the honor of humanity, bury them in oblivion! 

Will the Court then be pleased to look at that second book produ­
ced, and say whether the destruction of so considerable a portion of it 
would not awaken in the Court (under any circumstances) a lively 
suspicion; but most especially, when the person producing the book so 
mutilated, is desirous of proving, that all the entries in that book added 
together, amount to a certain sum, and no more1 Will the Court be 
pleased to examine that book, and say whether the frequent blanks 
to be found in almost every page of it, is not a circumstance to 
awaken in the mind of the Court a most lively suspicion1. Look at 
the entries themselves. Contrast it with its predecessor, though even 
that is far from immaculate. But if the Court should not deem these 
considerations deserving· of that weight to which I have been always 
taught to consider them entitled, I call on the Prosecutor at least to 
shew, how all that prudent caution which caused the omission of l\lr. 
Domville's cheque, lest my conspiracy should succeed,-which caused 
the omission of Mr. Dunn's of Mr. Cayley's, of Mr. Hewson's of Mr. 
Strachan's,-of every thing in fact, except the very items required to 
compound the exact sum of £50 2s. 6d.-why, I ask, was this pru­
dence forgotten at the eleventh hour? Why, just as the plot is thicken­
ing, do we find this, the last subscription (Mr. Cummins') said to have 
been received on the ~0th of February, 1840, entered in judgement 
against me? Why? But this is not all. With a precision becoming 
books so faithfully kept, 5s. cannot be added to Mr. Cummins' sub­
scrip1ion without the addition of an &.c.; and when required to 
explain to whom the &.c. referred, Major Magrath informed the 
Court, that I, when I paid this sum, stated that the 5s. was Mr. East­
wood's subscription. How fortunate that the amount of 5s. should 
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have been withheld for two years, and then come to light exactly when 
required, to complete the sum of £50 2s. 6d. For Mr. Eastwood when 
produced, swears, that he never attended the Races but once, and that 
he did on that occasion, and on that occasion only, ( which was in the 
year 1837,) subscribe 5s. to the Races. So that having kept the sum 
from the year 1887 to 1889 in my pocket, at length ( moved, I suppose, 
by the stings of conscience,) I dropped it from my avaricious grasp!­
The conclusion, Sir, is worthy of the premises, therefore the sum of 
£50 2s. 6d. must have been intended to have been originally composed 
of these items. But I have said so much in disproof of this position 
before, that I dare now only mention it to the Court. 

Mr. President and Gentlemen, I shall introduce the few remarks 
which I mean to offer upon the evidence for the defence, by directing 
the attention of the Court to the brief histories of this case, as related 
by the Prosecutor, and by myself. These histories are expressed in 
figures, {ifI may so speak). I have had the honor of laying several 
copies upon the table, for your information, Sir, and that of the other 
members. The factshave been in each case in part derived fro_m the same 
source,-namely, from Major Magrath's admissions of the payments 
made by him, and the dates of such payments in evidence before the 
Court. But in other parts,-namely, as to the receipts by Major Ma­
grath, those facts have been derived in his history from his own evidence 
and admissions; in mine from the evidence of the defence. 





MAJOP. MAGRATH's Receipts as stated by him. 

1839 . DR. 
June .... To Mr. Domville's subscription . .. ... . . . . . .... . . . .. . .. .. . 
June 29. " money collected by Messrs. Bell & Baker, Innkeepers .• . 
July 6 ... " Mr. Atkinson's subscrip tion ... . . .. . . .. . .. . .. . . . .. . .. . . 

£ s. c.. £ 
5 0 0 

16 10 0 
2 10 0 

s. d. 

--- 24 0 0 

Aug. 13 . " cash from Col. Fraser, races account. .-. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28 7 6 

1840. 
Feb'y 14. " cash , Cummings' subscription, &c . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 5 0 

" subscriptions collected after the month of August, 1839 . . . . . . . . . . . 19 O O 

" Balance due to Major Magrath . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 12 2 

103 4 8 

MAJOR MAGRATH's Payment11 a.s admitted by him in paper filed in evidence, 
marked A. B. 

1839. Cn. 11£ s. d. £ 
June 19. Moore, canage, two loads .. , ..... . . . , .. , ... • . .. I O 15 0 

:: Stewards' bar hill on course . . . .. . . . . . .. ... , •••. •ii 1 15 0 

20. By order o~,\fr. ~fairl~nd t'.1_!J3d B?n~ ... .... , • • , . _
1

6 5 0 
" Ily order of Mt. Mmtland, 1 roop l moe . .. . .. ... , . • 6 0 0 
" Paid Mr. lt1aitlrtnd money lost by him or overpaid. •: 2 10 0 
" Uncurrt:lt money handed me by JJ1,· . Jllaittan d . ... I 1 5 0 
" Three men·.~ exp Pnse~ remai ning at cour.::;e three days i O 15 0 
" 1\vo carpe nte r:; fou r day:3 . . ... ... . . . . .. . • . .. •.. , 1 2 0 0 

" Troup for refreshment an<l1lrink whilst on du ty during ] 
ra r·es . . ...... .. .. , ... . .. . . .. . . ........... i 2 0 0 

" Poicl, but cannot aci;ount fo r,and to be charged to him O 11 1 
" \Varson's~ingle waggon li rukcn. . . ... ... .. ....... . 1 10 0 
" 23- Mr. Hcntb, as per r,'ceipt. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . G 15 2 
" 28 . S. M. Carr nud S. H ol'and for collecting subscriptions 2 0 0 
' ' Accoun t book . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 5 6 

" 29 . Order of Major Markham to i\fr. Scarlett . .. .. . .. .. 10 15 0 
---45 
10 0 l, 6 . . . By order of Mr. Mnitland 

18 . Do do 
Do do 

A ugu3t l Do do 

to Mr. Atkinson .... . .. . 
M,·. WilJard ..... .. . 
Mr. Meredith ....... . 
Mr. G. Duggan ..... . 

4 7 6 
6 0 0 

35 0 0 

I 
s. d. £ s, d. 

l 9 

---- 55 7 6 

1840. --- 100 9 3 

April 6 .. Mr. Maitland, balance due bim for 1838...... ... ....... . ... ..... . 8 6 6 

il08 15 9 

Less unaccounted for .. . ... . .... . ................. , . . . . . . . . •, . . 
1

_ 0_1_1_1 

1108 4 8 

- ------··-------------------------------i-:- - - - --- ----- - - ----- - --- - ----- ----

MAJOR MAGRA'l;H's Receipts as stated by MR. JoHN MAITLAND and Mn. RoBERT MAJOR MAGRATH's Payments as admitted by him iii paper filed in evidence, 

MAITLAND. marked A. B. 

1839. DR. 
June 20. To cash of Captain Meade, 43d Regiment. . . .... . . 

" 24. " the money collec ted on the 1st and 2d days of the 
Races ... . ... . .......•••• . .. .... .. •••... . 

" " Mr. Domville's cheque . . . ... . . . ... . . . ... . ... . 
" 27. " Balance left (after paying sundry accounts ) of the 

moneydeposited in Mr. Tod's hands which was 
collected on the 3d day of the Races . .. . . .. .. . 

£ s. cl . £ s. cl 
6 5 0 

53 17 6 
7 10 0 

3 8 3 

---71 0 D 
July 6,." Mr. Atkinson's subscription . .. ..... . ... . .... . .. . ... , .. 2 10 O 

" " Money collected by Messrs Bell and Baker, Innkeepers ... 16 10 O 

Aug. 10. " Captain C11mm ins' subscription . . .. .. . .. .... . . . .. . .. .. .. . .... . 

'
1 13. '' Amount of Colo11cl Fraser's cheque for balance in the .Farmer 's Ilank 

" " Subscriptions collected after tho month of August, l839 . ..... . . 

1840. 
April 6 . " Irr. Murchison's subscription . . . . . ... .. . . . .. . . • - • . . - . . • · , • • , • ' I 

To amount to be accounted for byMajorMagrath brought down 41 8 7 

Discoveries lately made, also to be accounted for by 
.Maj or Magrath . 

" Short credited on Mr. Domville's cheque.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 2 2½ 
" Overcharge on payment made to Mr. Wilard . . . . . . . . . . . 0 2 6 

;: ~r. Joseph H eughen's subscription . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 10 O 
J r . J ohn Dodsworth's do .. . .. . .. . .. .. .. . .. .. .. . O IO O 

" Mr. H enry J. Williams' do . . . .... .. . . . .. ..... ... . 0 10 O 

" Mr. H enry B. Williams' do... .. .. . ... . . . . ..... .. . 0 10 O 

I 

£ s. d. 

90 0 9 
5 0 0 

28 7 6 
l!J O 0 

1 5 0 

143 13 3 

---- 43 1:. a; 

1839, CR. 
June 19 . Moore, cartage, twoloads .... . .. . . . ... ..... • , .. , 

" Stewards' bar biH on course . . ......... . . .... . , .. 

" 20. By order of Mr. Maitland to 93d Band . . . . . .... . 
" By order of Mr. Maitland, Troop Purse .. .. . ..... . 
" Paid Mr. Maitland money lost by him or overpaid .. . 
" Uncurrent money handed me by Mr. Maitland . ... . 
" Three men's expenses remaining at course 3 days .. . 
" Two carpenters 4 days . ....... . . . ... . .... .. - • , . 
" Paid , but can not account for, and to be charged to him 

" Watson's single waggon broken .......... . .... • • • , 
" 23 . Mr. Heath , as per receipt ... ... .. ... .. .. , . .. . , . 
" 28. S. M. Carr and S.Holland for collecting subscriptions 
1

' Account Book ..... . ....... ··· ... .... . . . . .. .. . 

" 29. Order of M aj or Markham to Mr, Scarlett . . ..... . . 

July 6 . . By order of Mr, Maitland to Mr. Atkinson .... . ... . 

" 18. Do Do Mr. Willard .... . ... . 
Do Do Mr. Meredith ..... .. . 

Aug. 1 .. Do Do Mr. G. Duggan ..... . 

£ s. d. £ 
0 15 0 
1 15 0 
6 5 0 
6 0 0 
2 JO 0 
1 5 0 
0 15 0 
2 0 0 
0 11 I 
l 10 0 
6 15 2 
2 0 0 
0 5 6 

s. d. £ S, d. 

10 15 0 
---45 l 9 
10 0 0 
4 7 6 
6 0 0 

35 0 0 
--- 55 7 6 

184~ --- 100 9 3 
6 6 April G •. Mr. Maitland balance due him for 1838. . . . . . ... . .... .. ... . . . . . . . . 8 

108 15 9 
Less amount charged for Troop P urse . •••• . . .. , . , . . . . . . . . 6 O 0 
Less unaccounted fo r . . . .. . . .. .. . . . .. .. .. .. .. . . .. . . . .. . . 0 11 1 

--- 6111 

102 4 8 
By amount to be accounted for to the Rac ing fund by Major Magrath 41 8 7 

143 13 3 
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1 have before touched upon the inccnsistency of the Prosecutor, 
in pursuing the course which he has adopted instead of first calling for 
a Court-Manial upon himself, in consequence of which we are now 
witnesses of ra~her an anom;ilo1w proceeding; for while the party ac­
cused is permitted to screen himself by his own evidence, I ( who am in 
fact the accuser) cannot be heard to support my charge. But not to 
dwell longer on this point, let us see which of the sta';ements is most 
consistent with the nr,ture of the thing itse'f~ a.,d with that µart of the 
evidence which is undoubted. If .Major Magrati1's stn.ternent be true, he 
will at the time he p:::id l\lr. ~ car'.ett, have recei\ ed but £21 lOe'. while 
he will have paid £41 ls. Dd.; tlmt i;3, he will ha·,,e been a, the <late of 
that payment, £2::3 11s. 9d. out ofpocke;:, He will, when he paiJ Mr. 
Atkinson, (who has been examined before yon) have been £51 1 • 9<l. 
out of pocket. And at the da,e of hi:J payment to Mr. Duggar, he will 
have expended£ 100 !:ls. sd. hL v:ng then only received £24; that is, he 
will have paid from his own funds£ 76 9s. Scl. 

Sir, it is not my purpose to argue, that the payment of this sum 
by the Prosecutor ou'; of his own pocket wa, impossible; nay, I shall 
not press the Court with any argument founded on the improbability of 
such a proceeding; nor shall I urge upon your consideration Major 
Magrath's well-earned charac~er for prudence, as incrensing that proba­
bility in a tenfold degree. Bnt what I do say if!, that such a supposi­
tion is at perfect variance with all the evidence in the ca::.e. Can any 
man believe, that when Mr. Scarlett called upon Major Magrath, on 
the ~9th of June, and recei.-ed his demand, such payment was made not 
from Race fund.s, but from the Prosecu::or's private purse? Who that 
heard Mr. Atkinson's clear and explicit statement, will so outrage his 
own common sense, as to allow any amount of direct testimony to per­
suade him, that at the time of that payment, the Race fund was indebted 
to Major Magrath £SO and upwards? How is it possible to make such 
a state of things consistent with the p8yments of that st::ile ckb'.: to Mr. 
Willard, in the manner he has det::iilecl in evidence,-a debt dne for 11 
months upon my note of hnnd. Bnt when Mr. Duggan asks Major 
Magrath for the £35 clue to him, and that too an ol<l d,~bt, ( of the pro­
priety of paying which, at all, out of the funds of that year, the Prose­
cutor entertained serious doubt) how is he answered! Is he informed 
of the desperate state of the finance:,;? Does Mujor l\fograth inform 
Mr. D11ggan, that he was a creditor himself for a larger amount than 
Mr. Duggan, and consequently could not discharge his claim?­
Quite the reverse. Major Mag-rath does not then put fonvard any 
claim against the Trrf Club, b ,t h3 pays Mr Duggar, '' stating, that 
as he is not sure how the Racing accounts stand, Mr. D,:ggan must 
repay, if it should turn out that the fonds were insufficient." Uncertain 
how the Racing accotrnt~ stood ! \Vhy-, Sir, will it be believed, that 
at that period Major Magrath had received. but two solitary tSums, 
amounting together to £24; so th::tt we are to believe, that wi~h the 
sum of £M, which had indeed been disbursed before it war; received, 
the Prosecutor ha,l paid £66, and yet was not certain, when Mr. Dug­
gan demanded his £35, whether enough clid not rem:.in to pay that too. 
But. what is the language of Mr. Heath, when he called at the Military 
Secretary's Office in Auguet1 Does he complain to me of the injustico 

D 
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done to Major Magrath, by appointing him Treasurer in June, and leav .. 
ing him from that time up to August to_ pay_ large sums of moner out 
of his own pocket, while a balance remamed m the Bank _unappropri_ate~1 
Does he expostulate with me? Does he say, you appo1~t the MaJor 1n 
June with hardly enough in hand to pay the small debt mcurred on the 
race ~ourse, and yet you send down to him Mr. Scarlett, Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Willard, Mr. Duggan, to obtain payment of large sums,_ while you 
have not now in Jlugn::t, exerted yourself to procure for him th? bal~ 
ance in the bank? Nothing of the sort. Hear Mr. Heath himself 
speak. He is asked at the 29th cross interrogatory, "Did you ever ask 
Mr. Maitland in the Military Secretary's Office to give you funds for 
Major Magrath1" and his answer is "No, but I said (having come . 
there on troop business,) Major Magrath said the other day he was out 
of money, and if you have any, you had better give it to him." H~ar~ 
Major Magrath say the other day he was out of funds ! Why, Sir, if 
his statement be true, he never was in fundf. He 1s appointed Treas~ 
urer the 25th-we find him paying Scarlett on the 29th, four days after, 
being then £24 out of pocket; up to the time of the payment to Mr. 
Duggan he had received no further supply, and yet, at the date of Mr. 
Heath's application he tells you, he had heard the Major say the other 
day he was out of funds. 

"Cred:it Judceus appella 
Non ego." 

There is besides on the face of this account, a palpable inconsist~ 
ency; for although the first sum of money admitteli to have been 
received is £ 16 10s., on the 29th of June, yet we find credit taken 
between the 20th and 24th of June, for the sum of £1 5s. uncurrent 
money "handed to me by Mr. A-Iaitland,"-so that the payment of the 
uncurrent money by me, and alrn the repayment to me of £2 10s. which 
I had overpaid, must have preceded any receipt by Major Magrath. 

Let us now turn from that statement so filled with improbabilities, 
-I had almost said impossibilities-to consider the other history compiled 
from the evidence of Mr.R.Maitland,and see how that narration accounts 
for the various phenomena in the case; and fiat, if Major Magrath was 
paid £58 or £54, on the 24th of June, 1859, then we find him taking 
credit about that time for £1 5s. bad notes, and for a sum of £91. l0s. 
paid to me,-so that the gross sum would be reduced to about £50, the 
very amount ?redi~ed by Major Magrath. But see how exactly this 
statement talhes with the payment:', as set out by Major Magrath him­
self. We shall not then find Major Magrath paying Mr. Scarlett, in 
a_mode so utterly irreconcileable with his testimony,-we shall not find 
him £23 ?ut of pocket at the date of that payment; for he will th.en 
have received £-1. Os. 9d., and paid £45 Is. 9d. Mr. Atkinson's tes­
timony will not then present an insurmountable barrier as it does to 
the ~elief. of Major Magrath's hypothesis, but will be in perf-e<:t 
keepmg with our statement, for he too will have been paid from Race 
funds; and instead of being obliged to account for that sudden and 
most unprecedented liberality of Major .Magrath, which induced him 
to seek out, and pay my pomfrsory notes of such old standing,· { one 
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being due 11 months, the other two years,) we shall have assigned 
to us the less difficult task of believing, that having Race funds in 
his hands, he discharged those old demands; for, at the time he paid 
Mr. Duggan, he will have received £90 Os. 9d., and paid £100 9s. Sd. 
And then Mr. Heath's statement at the time that he visited the 
Miliary Secretary's Office,-namely, that he heard "the .Major say 
the other day that the disbursements exceeded the receipts," instead 
of being perfectly inexplicable, falls in easily and naturaUy with this 
state of things. We will not then have a balance lt'ft in the Ba11k 
for rnonths, while Major Magro.th was paying old debts to a large 
amount out of his own pocket, but we will have that balance asked 
for and received, as soon as the other funds were exhausted. And 
lastly, when the sum of £8 6s. 6d. was paid me, we shall find Major 
Magrath indebted to the Race funds in a sum of £20 or £SO, as I 
always asserted, instead of those funds being indebted to him in a 
rimilar amount. 

And now, Sir, I do feel that this statement is so clear; that it 
accords so perfectly with the whole testimony in the case, and is 
illustrated so fully by the casual testimony which I have been ena­
bled to adduce; it accounts so exactly for the payments proceeding 
"pari paesu" with the receipts, (instead of leaving the matter in that 
inextricable confusion in which the other statement has placed it,) I 
feel all this so sensibly, that I will not consume the time of the 
Court with any comment on the subject. One glance at the account 
will have more effect than whole volumes of argument. 

But I cannot conclude without making an observation or two 
on the testimony of Mr. R. Maitland; and the Court will first of 
all be pleased to observe, that the conversation of the 24th of June, 
1839, deposed to by the witness, was not a single, ieolated conver­
sation, which having taken place, \vas never again brought before 
the memo~·y of the witness for fourteen months, (as the Prosecutor 
would represent it,) but it was a conversation, the main features of 
which were again and again brought back to his mind, by a variety 
of circumstances detailed in evidence. The conversation of Tuesday 
recalled it. The applications of the various persons during the week 
recalled it. The direction to Mr. Scarlett, to Mr. Atkinson,-the 
explanation to Mr. Duggan,-all these circumstances recalled and 
fixed it in his memory. And having made this general observation. 
I shall not trouble the Court with an investigation into the detailed 
manner in which he gave his evidence,-with dates and placee always 
specified,-thus throwing open the widest field to the cross-examin­
ation of the Prosecutor, which was certainly urged to a rather 
extraordinary extent. Had I, Sir, presented a false witness to prove 
the payment of the sum of £50, three sentences ,vould IHLve effected 
the object, without fear or cause of contradiction. Ilut I might 
appeal to every part of the cross-examination as a test of the clear­
ness and truth of that witness' testimony. The deduction of Mr. 
Murchison's subscription from my lodging money, was pressed with 
no ordinary pertinacity; and now, I am entitled to say, that unless 
Major Magrath can produce some written evidence to contradict 
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him,-unless he can produce such ·t~stimon,:r to shew, that that de­
duction was not made from the per10d enamg 31st of March,- 1840, 
-unless he coss so, I can triumphantly say, that the cross-examination 
has proved the accurary of thnt witness' ~1emory 1o a perfect demon:­
stration. But I do not feel it necessmy to 1ubour the argument on this 
head, because I can confidently Fa.y, that never was a witness presented 
to a Court, every particle of whose testimony wati s~ borne out and 
verified by all the other testimony in the case,-test1mony preserv~d 
for me in a manner so casLrnl and unexpected, as I cannot help agam 
s;:i.ying-, that I con:,,ider it as the interposi~ion_ of Lhe ha~d of Provid~nce 
for the demonstration of truth. I am not so ignorant ot the proceedings 
in Courts of Jn:;tice, a:J t0 fhtter myself .Mr. MaiJand's evidence can­
not be distorted and c:wille<l at; but I appeal confidently to the evidence 
of Mr. Scarlett, Mr. Atkinson, Mr. Beckman,-to the different pay­
ments,-in short, to all the evidence in the case, as the clearest demon­
stration of its truth. Upon Mr. Heath's account of the meeting of the 
28th July, I sh ,,'l make no comment. The Court will not forget the 
awful pause which preceded his reply to the 21st cross interrogatory, 
when examined on the defence. "State, to the best of your recollec­
tion, whn.t was the sum mentioned byMajorl\'lagrath as Mr.R.Maitland 
was leaving the room?" Did Mr. Heath, after all that had been said and 
written,-af,er his long examinajon in the Court, did he really forget 
that £50 2s. Gd. was the sum credi~ed by Major Magrath, or was that 
pause for Pjfect? The Court mu;,,t judge. Upon the testimony of Mr. 
Dodsworth, Mr. Heughen, Ur. \Villiams, I have no observation to 
offer. The sums sub,scribeJ by these gentlemen also escn.ped Major Ma­
grath's memory, at least after they were paid, for the Race fund is not 
increased by them, though up to the period of payment the memory of 
them seems to have been retained wi~h sufficient clearness. 

Mr. President and Gentlemen, such is the evidence, and such are 
some few of the observations, which have seemed to me necessary to 
its elucidation. I have deemed it my duty to meet this case fairly upon 
the evidence, lest in declining to do so, I might seem to shrink from the 
clornst investigation; but having discharged that duty, it becomes ne­
cessnry that I should lay before the Court the grounds upon which I 
submit, that an acquittal must upon many of these charges be recorded. 
Upon the first charge, Sir, I have probably said more than enough, 
because when I t'lkc Major l\.Iagrath's pamphlet in my hand, and when 
I find him admitting, that upon the return of Colonel Fraser to this city 
in Augm,t, he c'iscovered th'.lt '~he sum v.'hich I had said on the 27th of 
June, that "I had paid first to Mr. Heath, and then to him," was in 
truth the same ::mm which he now admits to have received from Colonel 
~ra:']er; when. in short he admits, that the 011/y sum charged against 
h~m, was rcceJ':ed, I am at _a lo:,s ~o know how _the mode of my e1pres­
swn can be be screwed np mt::> crnne. Unless mdeed we mean to ori­
ginate a new sydem, in which ':.he intention of the Epeaker shall be 
consi~_ered a matter of indifference, and his expression alone as worthy 
of no.ice • 

. I have s~i<l, S\r, that the 2d, sd, 4th, and 6th charges are, as I am 
advised, bad m pomt of law, and I am now to submit these reasona 
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which have convinced me that they o.llege no matter which this ( or any 
other Court can, under our Constitution) consider criminal. I am 
aware, Sir, that it is the spirit of our Con:otitution to prevent, in all 
cases, the redress of injuries by individual force, and by requiring an 
appeal to the law:!, rather than to the pa~sio11s of individ1,als; to secure 
the h:u-mon·y and peace -of civilised We, in::;tead of thc1.t endless confusion 
which must ever be found amongst men living- in a state of nature.­
And, Sit, I am not ignorant, that the law of Englc,nd under which we 
happily live, is no le::i;,i careful for the protection of our character:1 than 
of our praperties. But the same Constitution which has forbidden us 
to take the law into our own hand~,,-which has substituted an appeal 
to the.laws in the place of individual force,-has been especially careful 
to rescue every such appeal to a compe~ent jurbdiction from the charge 
of criminality; because if that Consti~ution wh·ch deprives us of the 
natural protection of individual force, and substitutes in its room an 
appeal to some competent jurisdiction,-if that Cons'.itution I say, were 
to permit such appe'.lls to be followed by the penal consequences sought 
to be entailed on me by this prosecution, then, Sir, in::otead of free men 
living under the protection of the laws, we should become the slaves of 
the most refined tyranny. For if an appeal to a competent juri~diction 
can be construed into crime, \vhere, I m,k, shall we for the future find 
those who will dare to drag in':;o light the deeds of the great and pow­
erful 1 If such appeal be followed by those penal consequences, then, 
Sir, the weak and unprotected will continue to be trampled on by those 
who "move in different spheres of society." 1'he wrongs which become 
in proportion to the rank of those ..yho perpe'mate them the more hein­
ous, will m that exact proportion remain unredressed; and then, Sir, 
peculation will for ever go unpunished. But, Sir, I assert that such is 
not the policy of the laws under which we live. That is not the spirit 
of the institutions for which we are contending. But the encourage­
ment of such appeals, by every individual in the community, is apparent 
throughout our whole system; and least the weak and unprotected 
tihould be deterred from the discharge of their public duty, those insti­
tutions have declared, and the laws have declared, that such appeals to 
justice shall be most sacredly guanled, and that com:eqnently the mov­
ers of them shall be protected from attack, even though the :!ubject matter­
of such appeals should prove to be false. I am not ignorant, Sir, that 
the law gives a remedy for a malicious prosecution, but this is not that 
ca.cie, and even to such action a probable cause is a perfect defence. 

When, then, I reflected upon the position of the parties to this 
proce3ding-when I remembered that: the one was the T, msurer, and 
the other the Secretory, hound to account to the public for the just 
administration of a fund in which the public wm: interested,-when I 
saw each of the parties charge npon the other, malversation in his office, 

. -and when I saw the President in the discharge of his duty calling to­
gether the Stewards (the rppointed gnardi:.ins of this fund,) to decide 
upon these different charges,-and when I beheld both parties appearing 
before, and submitting themselves to the Court thus constitnted,-when 
I heard the Judge who presided on that occasion, read that letter which 
constitutes the 6th charge against me, as the indictment, if I may so 
speak, upon which Major Magrath was to be trie<l,-(for, Sir, I was 
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then the Prosecutor),-and when I found those Judges declaring, that 
some of the charges at least, so preferred, were proved, I must confess 
that I felt unable to conceive how the present Prosecutor could make 
that letter the indictml'nt as it were upon which that investigation pro­
ceeded,-(for the Court will -remember, that the circulation of this letter 
has been confined to the Steu:ards),-I felt at a loss to conceive how he 
could make a few particular instances specified in proof of that indict­
ment, the ground of any procedure against me· in a Court of justice. 
But, Sir, firmly as I was impressed with the conviction, that this 
proceeding would be found unwarranted by law, I could not never­
theless contemplate this Court for weeks together gravely considering 
such charges, without entertaining some apprehension lest we should 
be found in the intricacies of this enquiry to have lost sight of the 
spirit of our Constitution and the letter of our law. 

Mr. President, I might elucidate and enforce these principles; 
by arguments derived from every part of our history, but I have 
already troubled the Court so long, that I forbear to do more than 
cite an anthority which will (I think) be found to justify the positions 
I have laid down. I allude to "Bailey'!! case," tried in the Court of 
King's Bench in the year 1778. 

The prisoner in that case, Sir, was a Captain in the Navy, and 
he filled the place of Governor of Greenwich Hospital. He saw, 
(or fancied that he saw) in the Lords of the Admiralty, conduct 
unworthy of the trust reposed in them, and finding it impossible by 
repeated applications to arouse these persons to a sense of their 
duty, he did print and circulate amongst the General Directors of 
the Hospital, (and they in fact comprised all the rank and station in 
England,) a pamphlet containing the gravest charges against these 
Lords of the Admiralty, and amongst them, aga.inst the Earl of Sand­
wich, then first Lord and President of that Board. Whether this 
Captain in the Navy was "attached" to the first Lord of the Admiralty, 
or whether he was not, the case is silent. But when we remember that 
as Governor of Greenwich Hospital he drew "fuel and light," the fair 
presumption is, I think, (in accordance with the arguments us~d here,) 
that he was so attached. Sir, the circulation of that printed pamphlet 
caused the suspension of Captain Bailey from his office of Governor, and 
was made the subject of a criminal proceeding against him before a 
Court of Justice. And now, let us see what it was that he charged 
against the first Lord of the Admiralty, as stated to the Court by his 
own Counsel. This charge, Sir, is found in his pamphlet amongst 
many others, of even graver import against that personage:-"That 
the present first Lord of the Admiralty has, to serve the base and 
worthless purpose of corruption, introduced his prostituted freeholders 
of Huntingdon into places destined for the honest freeholders of the 
seas." 

In opening his case to that Court, over which the venerable Lord 
Mansfield presided, Lord Erskine said: 

• " My ,½ord, I wil~ poin! to the proof of all this; I will shew yout Lordship 
the.tit was his duty to mvest1gate; that the abu3es he has investigated do really 
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oi•t and ari11e from the ascribed causes ; that he has presented them to a com• 
petentjurisdiction, and not to the puhlic; and that he was under the indispensa• 
ble necessity of taking the step he has done.'1 

And Now, Sir, I shall trouble the Court with no comment of my 
own, but shall simply read the argument of Lord Erskine, upon which 
Captain Bailey was restored to his office, and the criminal proceeding 
against him crushed in its inaption :-

" My Lord, a man can not be guilty of a libel \"ho presents grievances be­
fore a competent jurisdiction. although the facts lie presents should be false; he 
may indeed be indicted for a malicious prosecution, and even then• a probable 
cause would protect him, but he can by no construction be considered as a. 
libeller. 

"The case of Lake and King in 1st Levieux, :WO, but which is better re­
ported in 1st Saunders, is directly in poi11t; it was an action for printing 11 

Petition to the Member~ of a Committee of Parliament, charging the Plaintiff 
with gross fraud in the execution of his office; I am aware that it was an action 
on the case, and not a criminal prosecution; hut I am prepared to shew your 
Lordship, that the prec.,dent on that account makes the ;;tronger for us. The 
truth of the matter, though part of the plea, was not the point in contest; the 
justification was the presenting It to a proper jurisdiction, and printing it, as in 
this case, for more commodious distribution; and it was first of all resolvPd by 
the Court, that the delivery of the Petition to all the Members of the Committee 
was ju~tifiable; and that it was no libel whether the matter contained were t?-ue 
or false, it being an appeal in a cc,urse of justice, and because the parties to 
whom it was addressed had jurisdiction to detnmine the matter; that the inten­
tion of the law in prohibiting libels, was to restrain men from making themselves 
their own judge!<, instead of refnring the matter to those whom the constitution 
had appointed to determine it; and that to adjudge such reference to be a libel, 
would discourage men frc,m making their own enquiries with thl'lt freedom and 
readiness which the law allows, and which the good of sodety requires. But it 
was objected, he could not justify the printin{(, for by that means it was published 
to printers and composers; but it was answerl-'d and rPsolved by the whole Court, 
that the printing, with intent to distribute them among the members of the Com­
mittee, was legal; and that the making many copies by Clerks, would have made 
the matter more public. 

" I said, my Lord, that this being an action on the case, and not an indict­
ment or information, made the stronger for us ; and I said so, because the action 
on the case is to redress the pnrty in damages, fur the injuries he has sustained 
as an individual, and which be has a right to recover, unless the Defendant can 
shew that the m11tter is true, or, as in this case, whether true 01· false, that it is 
au appeal to justice. 

Now, My Lord, if a Defendnnt's right to appeal to justice conlci, in the case 
of Lake and King, repel a Plaintiff's right to damages. allhough he was actually 
damnifieil by the appeal, how much more must it repel a criminal prosecution, 
whir.b can be undertaken only for the sake of public justice, when the law says, 
it is fi.,r the benefit of public justice to make such appeal 7 And that case went 
to protect eve!'} falsehood, and where the Defendant was not particularly called 
upon in duty as an individ·ml to anirnadvert,-how much more shall it protect us 
who were bound to enquire, who have written nothing but truth, and who have 
addressed what we have written to a competent jurisdiction 1'' 

Such, Sir, are the arguments upon which Captain Bailey was 
a.cquitted and restored to his command. Of the force of the$e a.rgu-
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ments to maintain the general proposit!on ?~ law, which I hitve·hadthe 
honor of submitting, and of their apphcab1hty to the present case the 
Court will judge. 

Before observing· in conclusion, Mr. President, on the 5th and only 
remaining charge ag~inst me, I wo_uld h~g o_f the Court, if pos_sible, to 
blot from their memory every par;;icle of evidence adduced on the de­
fence. I would beg of them to allow me to brini before. thei; mind~ 
the principal facts of the case, upon the as:surnpt10n that MaJor Ma­
grnth's shtements 115 to his receipts are true, and mine incorrect.· And 
first, Sir, let me direct your at~ention to the position in which I stood 
in the spring- of 1840. It cannot, I think, be argued whh any degree 
of fairnes:-.;, th,,t then at leaf:lt I had any motive for charging MaJor 
Magrath with th<' receipt of any sums \vhich I did not honestly· think 
had been paid to him; for I <lo not st1ppose that any desire to encrease 
the Race funds can be considered as a sufficient motivefor such con­
duct, and I have as yet perceived in the evidence no traces of that 
conspiracy which Captain Magrath had foreseen. A desire to screen 
my own ernbezzlemeut cannot possibly have actuated me, because no 
man accu~ed me. Nay, it would appear from the evidence, that the 
secret was buried in my own bosom. Under these circumstances did 
I involve the matter in mystery? Did I keep back my statements until 
the affair had lain so long dormant, that Major Magrath could not have 
been expected to retain any recollection of id And did I then bring it 
forward with an inviJious and malignant design to entrap him1 Did 
not my letter of the 6th of May, plainly state to Major Magrath the 
sum which I alleged he had received, the source from which that sum 
was derived, and the mode in which it had been paid? Can uny man 
look at the Bank account enclosed in that letter, and say, that the! entry 
of the cheques there added, was intended to entrap, and not inform?­
Does the hand in which ther,;e entries arn added, resemble that in which 
the amount is drawn out? Does the careless manner of the addition 
bespeak fraud? What then is Major Mugrath's conduct with all this 
light before him? What i::i his statement to myself on the 27th of June! 
What is his statement at the Military Secretaris Office? What is his 
statement at the Farmer's Bank? He upon all these occasions denies 
the receipt of that sum. What construc:.ion the Court may put upon 
these denials of Major M:igrath, it is not for me to enquire; but they 
have been so frequent, and in such various forms, that I feel I may for 
the purpose of my presen~ argument, a:,sume them to have been, (as 
they were under~tood to be at the timP,) general. A·, the Farmer's 
Bank, it would seem that .Mujor Mngrath only denied the receipt of 
~hat sum from Colonel Fra~er. On the 27th of June he only denied· 
1t from me. And on the 2nh of July, he denied the· receipt of it from 
Colonel Fraser a~ well as f,·om myself. But th8n that was only meant 
"in addition." These e~planatio1_m may be deemed satisfactory to the 
Court, and I have no desire to cavil at them, because I think that when 
all those to whom the denial was expressed, understood it to be unqua­
lified, 1 cannot be blamed for falling into the general error. Under­
standin&" then his denial to be unqualified as I did, I ask whe~h~i: my 
le~ter of the 24th ?f July was unwarranted1 Would any member of 
this Court have written less strongly under the same circumstanees'l--· 
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And now the question presents itself,-Who cast the first stone1 My 
letter of the 24th of' July was private; but how is it met1 It is taken 
by Major Magrath to a meeting of the Stewards, and there made pub .. 
lie in the manner described in the evidence. The Stewards who were 
present at that meeting have all been examined, and have stated upon 
oa.th, that Major Magrath's then statement as to the sum of £28 7s. 6d. 
was inconsistent with truth; and the production of the letter was prefaced 
by the most insulting expressions to myself, which I must take leave to 
say were e{J_Ually untrue. For, although it be true that Capt. Magrath, 
who had '1£ot :been with the troop during the whole period of my service, 
was subsequently appointed to the commission which I had been led to 
expect, and drew that pay which I had hoped to have received; and 
although it be true, that I was then driven to the alternative of signing 
the pa.y~list as " Corporal," or contenting myself without any pay, 
yet it was also true, 1 hat for the whole period of my service, I acted as 
.IJ.tijutant, .and not as ~, Corporal," and had during all that time the 
unspeakable honor of being the mess-mate of ~Iajor Magrath! 

The matter having been thus published to the worlcj_ by;,the Prose• 
eutor, and the Major.General considering it an affair proper to be 
decided by the Race-Club, I did (on the return of Colonel Fraser) feel 
bound in duty to myself, to meet what every body unders-~ood to have 
been a denial of the receipt of the sum of £~8 7s. 6d. by the publica• 
tion of that receipt which had been given to Colonel Fraser by Major 
Magrath when the sum was paid. Of this act, he who had throvm the 
first stone,-who had published my letter with a denial of the truth of 
my assertion, had not I think just reason to complain. But who is 
guilty of the next irregularity? Upon the return of Colonel Fraser I 
applied to have a meeting of the Stewards for the purpose of investiga• 
tion, and Capt. Arthur has also in his evidence deposed to my frequent 
complaints and earnest desire for enquiry. Major Magrath, however, 
prefers an appeal to the public, and sends abroad a publication, in which 
he not only accuses me of embezzlement effected by the invention of 
"wilful and malicious falsehoods;" and glories in having demonstrated 
my utter disregard to the truth; but with a malice which needs no 
comment, adds to the publication, and gives to the world a report upon 
my accounts of 1857 and 1858, with which he has himself stated that 
he had no earthly connection. 

Sir, I objected to the Court receiving evidence as to the accounts 
of 1857 and 1858, not because I shrunk from an investigation of them, 
but because I considered the receipt of such evidence to be contrary to 
t~e most elementary principles of law; for I apprehend, that the pub• 
hshed paper, styled, "Sketch of the winding up of the Race accounts 
for 1857," will appear to ordinary minds sufficiently plain. It speaks 
f<;>r itself. And to any mind not endowed with that profound metaphy• 
s1cal _discernment displayed by Major l\fagrath,-to any mind less gift. 
ed_ with the power of drawing these refined distinctions, by which every 
thmg that the world took to be false, is clearly proved to be true, and 
all that the _world held true, is with equal clearness shewn to be false, 
-to any mmd, I say, lass enlightened, the report of Messrs. Stanton 

E 
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and Cameron must appear equally inexplicable. Of the accounts d( 
1887, I shall only say, that it has never been usual to keep any ·other 
than the Subscription-book and the vouchers; but if Mr. M'Knight, 
who kept the monies and made the disbursements for the year of l8S7, 
could be produced, I am certain that if he could not produce vouchers, 
he could at least depose to the proper application of his receipts •. And 
now, I will simply ask theCourt, whether I was ·bound by any law, divine 
or human, to allow the grave charges contained in that pamphlet to re­
main uncontradicted? Can it be considered for the honor of Her Majes­
tyjs service, that even a " Corporal" should allow such charges to 
remain uncontradicted, during the interval which must have elapsed 
between that publication and the investigation in November? Was it 
not my solemn duty to myself, to the public, to my Sovereign, to repel 
those charges, directly, and at the mme tribunal before which Major 
JJfa,grath had arraigned me,-namely, the tribunal of Public Opinion? 
But, even though the Court should conclude that in taking this step I 
have been guilty of a breach of Military law, yet I do trust, that the 
consideration of Major Magrath\, conduct, ( of which I have just sketch­
ed the outline,) will ensure to me this concession at least,-that it was 
an error committed under such gross provocation, as the feelings of our 
common nature have ever been found unable to endure! 







APPENDIX. 

MILITIA GENER.AL ORDER: 

S ADJUTANT GENERAL'S OFFICE, 
l Toronto, 8th .!lpril, 1841. 

Before a General Court-Martial of Militia, held at Toronto, 
on the 8th day of February, 1841, and continued by adjournment until 
the 19th day of the ensuing month, Lieutenant JOHN MAITLAND, of the 
4th Battallion of Incorporated Militia, was arraigned on the following 
charges, viz:-

Scandalous and infamous behaviour, unbecoming the character 
of an Officer and a Gentleman, in the following instances, viz:---

First.-Having stated at the City of Toronto, on or about the 
~7th June, 1840, in the presence and hearing of George B. Holland, 
late Serjeant of the First Troop of Incorporated Militia Dragoons, that 
he the said Lieutenant John Maitland had paid to the said Major T.W. 
Magrath the sum of £~8 7s. 6d. currency, he the said John Maitland 
at the same time well knowing that he had not so paid the same, 

Charge the Second.-Having stated at Toronto aforesaid, on or 
about the 19th day of November, 1840, in the presence of Colonel 
Alexander Mackenzie Fraser, Assistant Quarter Master General to the 
Forces, Colonel Sir Allan Napier Macnab, Third Regiment of Gore 
Sedentary Militia, Colonel Richard Bullock, Adjutant General of Mili­
tia, and Captain Frederick Leopold Arthur, Aid-de-Camp, that he the 
said Lieutenant John Maitland had paid to the said Major Thomas W. 
Magrath the sum of six pounds five shillings, currency, being the 
a.mount of the subscription of certain Officers of Her Majesty's 4Sd 
Regirnent, to the City of Toronto and the County of York Race Meet­
ing, for the year 1839, he the said Lieutenant John Maitland well 
knowing at the same time that he had not so paid the same. 

Charge the Third.-Having stated at Toronto, on or about the 
19th day of November, 1840, at a Meeting of the Stewards of the City 
ofToronto and York County Race Meeting for the year 1839, that he 
the said Lieutenant Maitland was prepared with proof, that the said 
Major Magrath had received the sum of six pounds five shillings, cur­
rency, being the amount of the last mentioned subscription of the Offi­
cers of the 43d Regiment, for the purpose of endeavouring to entrap 
the ea.id Major Magrath into the admission of the receipt thereof; he 
the said Lieutenant Maitland at the same time having no such proof, 
and being well aware that the fact was contrary to his said statement. 
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Charge the Fourt~.-Having st!tte~ at t~e time and place, and ~n 
the occasion last mentioned, that the said MaJor Magrath had not paid 
certain men of the said First Troop of Incorporated Militia Dragoons 
the amount of a certain purse, called the Troop Purse; run for at the 
Baid Race M eetino- in 1839, and won by certain men of the said Dra­
goons, and that h~ the said Lieutenant .Maitland had been informed by 
two men of the said Troop, who were entitled to receive a proportion 
thereof, that the same had not been paid to them by Major Magrath, or 
any one for him, and that they had not received their proportion; he 
the said Lieutenant Maitland well knowing when he made the said 
statement, that the said purse had been paid by Major Magrath, and 
that no man of the said Dragoons,. entitled to receive any proportion 
thereof, had made any such declarat10n. 

Charge the Fifth.-1-Iaving written and published, or caused to be 
written and published, at Toronto, on or about the 31st day of August, 
1840, in a public newspaper called the "British Colonfrt, a false, scan-' 
dalous, and malicious letter, with intent to injure and defame the char­
acter of the said Major l\fograth,as an officer and a gentleman; express­
ing therein and thereby, that a certain statement published as the result 
of the examinations of the Toronto Turf Club Accounts for 1839,- was 
a most bungling and barefaced attempt to cover the peculation of the 
said Major Magrath. 

Charge the Sixth.-Having written and published, at 'l'oronto, on 
or about the 10th day of October, Ul40, a false, scandalous, and mali­
cious statement, tending to injure an<l defame the character of the said 
Major Magrath, as an officer and a gentleman, in reference to the.Race 
funds of the City of Toronto an<l County of York Race Meeting for 
1859; whereby he accused the sai<l 1\-fajor Magrath of having attempted 
peculation of the said fonds,-such conduct being contrary to the rules 
and regulations of Her Majesty's service, and subversive of good order 
and military discipline. 

- The Court having maturely vrnighed and considered the evidence 
i_n support of the charges against the Pl'isoner, John 'Maitland; Liei.Iten~ 
ant 4th Battalion Incorporated Militia,-his defence, and the evidence 
o.dduc·ed in support of it,-is of opinion, that with regard to the first 
charge, he the Prisoner, John Maitland, Lieutenant 4th Battalion focor:.. 
porated Militia, is not guilty, and do therefore acquit him of the same. 

With regard to the second charge, the Court is of opinion, that 
the Prisoner, John Maitland, Lieutenant 4th Bathlion Incorporated 
Militia, is guilty. 

_ With regard to the third charge, the Court is of opinion, that the 
Prison~r, John Maitland, Lieutenant 4th Battalion Incorporated Militia, 
is guilty • 

. : With regard ~o the fo~rth charge, the C0t~rt is of opinion, that the 
Prisoner, John Maitland, Lieutenant 4th Ilattahon Incorporated Militia, 
is guilty. 
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With regard t? the ~fifth charge, the Court is of opinion, that the 
Prisoner, John Maitland, Lieutenant 4th Battalion Incorporated Militia, 
is guilty. 

With regard to the sixth charge, the Court is of opimon, that the 
Prisoner, John Maitland, fo guilty. · 

The Court having- fountl the Pri£oner guilty of the second, third, 
fourth, fifth and f:iixth chnrges preferred agnim;t him, which being in 
breach of the Articles of War and the .M iliti:.1. Act now in force in this 
Province, do sentence him, the Pri:,:oner, John Maitland, Lieutenant 
4th Bat~alion Incorpora:etl l\Iilitin,, to be Cashiered. 

The Court having performed its du';;y, cannot separate without re­
cording its opinion upon the clec:cription of <lcfence attempted to be set 
up by the Prisoner, to wit, 1h:1t he had received a provocation sufficient 
to justify on his part a breach of Mili,ary discipline-a doctrine subver­
sive of the fundamental principle by which all armies are governed, and 
entirely at variance with those aULhorities which are equally binding 
upon Military and Civil Tribunals. 

Yet notwithstanding this attempt upon the part of the Prisoner, no 
testimony has heen produced by him, even if his position had been tena­
ble, sufficient to justily tile Court in acquitting him of any one of the 
charges of which he has been found guilty. 

His Excellency the Governor General has been pleased to approve 
and confirm the finding or the Court. 

Mr. John Maitland will cease to receive pay in Her Majesty's ser­
vice from this date. 

The General Court-Martial, of which· Colonel Vanoughnett, 5th 
Battalion _Incorporated Militia, is President, is dissolved. 

By command. 

(Signed) · RICHARD BULLOCK, 
.fldjutant Geneml Militia. 
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Statement shewing the Total .JJ.mount of Receipt and Expenditure of the Funds of the City of Toronto and York County June Race Meeting, 1889. 

CoLONEL MACKENZIE FRASER, President. 

1889. £ s. d. 1839. £ s. d. £ s. d. 
To amount of money paid into the F anner's Bank by By amount of the cheques drawn by the Pre-

Mr. Maitland, (to the credit of Col. Mackenzie sident of the Races (Colonel Mackenzie 
Fraser, President of the Races,) bet ween the !2!2d I<'raser, ) paying Plates, &c., inc luding 
day of May and the 18th day of Juue, 1839, as per the balance transferred to MajorThomas 
Bank Statement, being the amount of subscrip- William Magrath on 13th Aug. 1839, • !256 15 0 
tions collected before the Races,and the entrances Less amount so tmnsferred to Major Magrath !28 7 6 
for t he Plates , • •. • • , • •. • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •. , • • !256 15 0 2!28 7 6 

June 19· " Cash received by Mr. Heath,- viz: six entrances atl 
lQs. each, for the Race for a Jockey Saddle- for 

June !25• 
By cash deposited in Mr. Tod's hands ac-

Hacks- which Saddle was won by Cash's bay counted for,, •• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • · • • • !25 0 0 
mare,•····••····••····•••···•,•····• ..... • 3 0 0 Paid Mr. Domville, A. D. C. difference of 

" !20 • " Cash received by Mr. H eath,-viz: four entrances cheque , •, •• ••• •.••, .. ••,,• £!2 10 O 
at 10s. each, for the Race for a Jockey Saddle-I Paid the balance to Major Magrath 
for Ponies-which saddle was won by Mr. How- when handing him the follow-
cutt' s bay pony,•.• •• • •• •.••••• . • •., . ••• •.•• 2 0 0 ing accounts discharged,,, , 3 8 3 

" 21· " Cash of Captain Meade, 43d Regt., paid to Major 5 18 3 
Magrath,• ••• •.•• •••••. , ...••• . ••••••• • .••• G 5 0 

" " Amount collected by Mr. Maitland and Major Ma- Mr. Dalton's account paid by Mr. 19 1 9 
grath on the Race Course, on thi$ the third day Maitland ••• .• , ••••••• ,,.,. 5 8 0 
of the Races, ancl deposited by l\Ir. Maitland in

1 

Messrs. Watkins & Harris' do do 0 13 9 
the hands of A. Tod, Esq., before riding in thel Mr. Stanton's do do 4 0 0 
Hurdle Race• , • , , • , • • • • • • • • . • • • • • • . • • , , , , 25 0 0 Messrs. Wragg & Co's do do 6 0 0 

" !24• " Amount collected by Mr. Maitland and Major Ma-
1 

Mr. Scobie's do do 3 0 0 
grath on the Race Course, on the :first d.nd second, ---- 19 1 9 
days of the Races, (19th and !20th June, 1859,)1 19 1 9 

and handed over to Major Magrath by Mr. Mait- By amount of sums claimed by Major Ma-
land, on the evening of this day, Monday- •••••• 55 17 6 gm.th as paid by him, ........ -, •••••• 108 4 8 

July " Money collected by Messrs. Bell ancl Baker, Inn-
1 

Less amount charged for Troop Purses, , , • 6 0 0 
keepers, paid to Major Magrath through Mr. 102 4 8 
Maitland ... .... .................. ......... I 16 10 0 By Amount to be accounted for to the Rae-

Aug. 10, " Captain Cummins' subscription paid to Major Ma- 1 ing fund by MaJor Thos. W. Magrath • 41 8 7 
grath through Mr. Maitland ••• , • ••••••.• • •• • • I 5 0 0 By amount (the saddle entrances) to be ac-

1840. " Outstanding subscriptions received by Major Magrath !26 10 0 counted for to the Racing fund by Mr. 
April 6, " Mr. Murchison's subscription paid t,i Majorl.lfagrath 1 5 0 Heath ••· •• ·•••••••••··•••·••••·•• 5 0 0 

46 8 7 
1396 !2 6 396 !2 6 I 

" Amount to be accounted for, brought down 46 8 7 ! 
h 

Discoveries lately made, also t0 be accounted 
for by Major Magrath. 

" Short credited on Mr. Domville's cheque• 
" Overcharge on payment made to Mr. Wil-

0 !2 !2n 

lard•···· ... ••· • ·•, .... •• .. •• •···· 0 2 6 
" Mr. Joseph Heughen's subscr1ption, •• ,, 0 10 0 
" Mr. John Dodsworth's do,, , •• ••••• 0 10 0 
" Mr. Henry J. Williams' do , ········ 0 10 0 
" Mr. Henry B. Williams's do .•. , ••... . 0 10 0 

I 48 13 3~ .. 
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